TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN

Trading with the Enemy

A Reflection on the Debate on Commercial Ties among Different Political

Regimes

Alexander Kriebitz

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Management der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Wirtschaftswissenschaften (Dr. rer. pol.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzende: Prof. Dr. Hanna Hottenrott

Prüfende/-r der Dissertation:

- 1. Prof. Dr. Christoph Lütge
- 2. Prof. Dr. Stefanie Jung

Die Dissertation wurde am 23.04.2021 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Management am 23.08.2021 angenommen.

Esto bonus miles, tutor bonus, arbiter idem integer.

Decimus Iunius Iuvenalis

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my special gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Christoph Lütge for his scientific input, his moral support, his patience, his timely feedback and for giving me the opportunity to write my thesis under his supervision. The decision to write my dissertation exactly at this place has proven to be one of my best choices in my academic and vocational life. Moreover, I would like to express my earnest appreciation to Prof. Dr. Stefanie Jung for her kind help and her willingness to take the task of the dissertation reviewer and Prof. Dr. Hanna Hottenrott for her willingness to host and chair my dissertation's defense. Along these lines, I also want to thank the administrative staff at TUM, starting with Ms. Wally Eichler for helping me to pave my way through the jungle of public administration and all the others involved in the tedious work of coordinating, reviewing and publishing my articles and final thesis. Without their help, my dissertation would not have been possible.

I would like to say thanks to my friends and research colleagues at our institution. The most important person to be mentioned is Raphael Max, who was not just a colleague for me, but who became one of my closest and most trusted friends. His personal support, his organizational skills and the inspiring intellectual conversations with him were decisive for finalizing this dissertation. I also want to express my sincere gratitude to Prof. Dr. Ingo Pies. I am deeply indebted to him for his valuable advice and his invitations to Wittenberg. I also want to thank all others who have helped me to develop my thoughts starting with researchers and students at TUM, employees at the sustainability and compliance departments of German companies and international colleagues.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my girlfriend and my parents for their moral support and the endless help I received from them. Their contribution shall be unforgotten.

V

Extended Abstract

The recent wave of globalization has resulted in an increase of commercial exchange among different political regimes, sparking an intensive debate on the morality of commercial exchange with non-democracies. Two competing narratives dominate this discourse: Some express the view that morality prohibits commercial engagement with non-democracies, others assert that commercial exchange with all forms of government is crucial for maintaining international stability and realizing social development.

In order to provide a more nuanced picture on the matter, the dissertation reflects on the normative principles and causal theories, which manifest in the context of commercial ties with non-democracies. Many observers regard non-democracies as norm violators and as incapable of addressing key moral issues including development, human rights and international peace. The relevance of these moral aspects does not equally matter for all observers, though. Realists tend to structure commercial ties according to national interest, irrespective of the regime type of the partner country. On the contrary, idealists are inclined to streamline commercial ties to normative concepts and to factor in moral concepts in their agenda for international commerce. Furthermore, the dissertation examines the models of minds, which explain the ascribed role of commercial ties for realizing the major objectives on international cooperation. Here, we encounter that the dominating views on commercial ties with non-democracies are influenced by fundamentally different economic theories such as development theory, Marxism or dependency theory.

Based on the preceding elaborations, the thesis reflects on the main reasons for the disagreement on commercial ties with non-democracies. Here, the dissertation sheds the light to the interplay of normative and causal premises and the key meta-ethical concepts, forming the moral judgment of the observer.

VII

Contents

Introduction	1	
Normative Judgments on Commercial Ties in History	3	
Regulation of Commercial Ties in History	3	
Commercial Ties in the History of Ideas		
Reflection on Moral Judgments	7	
Assumptions on Commercial Exchange with Non-Democracies		
Normative Premises	10	
Normative Statements and Political Regimes	11	
About National Interest and Moral Principles	13	
Realism and National Interest	13	
Idealism and Moral Principles	16	
The Moral Desiderata of International Commerce	19	
International Peace	20	
Human Rights and Fundamental Rights	22	
Social Development	25	
Causal Premises	28	
The Impact of Commercial Ties on Development	28	
The Development Argument	29	
The Dependency Argument	30	
Impact of Commercial Ties on International Peace	32	
The 'Peace Through Trade' Argument	33	
The 'Escalation by Trade' Argument	34	
The Impact of Commercial Ties on Democratization		
The 'Change Through Trade' Argument	36	
The 'Change Through Confrontation' Argument	38	
Academic Contributions	41	
Artificial Intelligence and Human Rights: A Business Ethical Assessment	41	
The Xinjiang Case and Its Implications from a Business Ethics Perspective	43	
Foreign Investment and North Korea's Knowledge Economy	44	
Discussion	46	
Conclusion	51	
References	54	
Appendix	69	

"Every society must have a conception of how it is related to other societies and of how it is to conduct itself towards them." John Rawls, Law of Peoples

Introduction

The debate on commercial ties with authoritarian regimes, dictatorships, or rogue states summed up in the following as non-democracies - has gained momentum over the past three decades (Donaldson & Dunfee, 1999; Santoro, 2000, 2009, 2010; Ramasastry, 2015; Homann et al., 2016). Against the backdrop of the globalization wave following China's economic liberalization and the fall of the Iron Curtain, economic exchange and financial interactions among countries with different political regimes have intensified (Quinn & Inclann, 1997; Keohane, 2005), giving rise to a polarizing debate on the ethicality of commercial ties among different political regimes. This dispute is largely dominated by the question of how democracies should design commercial ties with non-democracies (see Santoro, 2000, 2009) and by the search for a common ground bridging moral expectations in the context of transnational commercial activities (Donaldson, 1992; Küng, 2014). However, the modus vivendi of democracies and non-democracies in the global economy and the search for a common basis of international economic relations remain subjects of dispute. Whereas some scholars include human rights and democratization as part of the moral agenda of globalization (Donaldson 1992; Hsieh, 2015; Ruggie, 1993; Sen, 1999; Wettstein, 2015), others favor structuring commercial ties in accordance with geopolitical priorities (see Krasner, 1976).

Likewise, the reflection on the advantages and disadvantages of specific policy measures to address moral issues in international commerce such as conditional trade agreements or sanctions has received increased academic interest (see Grauvogel & von Soest, 2014; Schmieg, 2014, 2015; Singh & Zammit, 2000). Over the years, the scope of this debate has widened, encompassing economic aid for European countries hit by COVID-19 (Erlanger, 2020), bilateral energy projects such as North Stream II (Shalal, 2020) or technological transfer through academic collaboration (Murgia & Shepherd, 2019).

The dissent on these matters notwithstanding, some theories in political sciences and economics claim that perceptions of and narratives on right and wrong conduct could unfold a powerful impact on policy making in general (see Wendt, 1992, 1998, 1999) and on investment decisions in specific (see Blanton & Blanton, 2007, 2012). Given the potential economic impact of moral perceptions on commercial ties (Kucera, 2002; Garriga 2016), the purpose of the dissertation is to detail the debate on the normative and causal claims made in the discourse on commercial ties with authoritarian regimes. The polarized view of how to structure economic ties to countries regarded as non-democracies begs questions on the guiding assumptions or concepts behind the value judgments made about this context. Which norms form the basis for judgments on commercial ties with non-democracies? Which causal theories connect postulated norms with trade and commerce?

Normative Judgments on Commercial Ties in History

Normative statements concerning commercial ties with non-democracies are embedded in a historical context. Examining history does not only illuminate the role of commercial ties as part of economic statecraft, but also sheds light on the interest of philosophers and scholars in the moral evaluation of commercial ties in general and with other societies or civilizations in specific.

Regulation of Commercial Ties in History

Whether to enhance or to reduce commercial ties by political measures has always been subject to controversy. History shows that societies regulated not only the expansion and reduction of commercial ties in general, but also commercial ties with specific trade partners (see Baldwin, 1985; Minter & Schmidt, 1988; Peksen & Drury, 2009). These preferences for more or less trade expressed themselves in the invention of different political and economic instruments for coordinating, limiting or supporting commercial engagement with foreign entities. Although they became more refined over time, the basic intention behind these policies did not change substantially (see Baldwin, 1985; Brown, 2004; Kern, 2009). Typically, the means to reduce economic ties are protectionism, sanctions, and boycotts, whereas the

means to enhance commercial ties are bilateral trade or investment agreements, international organizations, and economic liberalization.

A deliberate and coordinated reduction of commercial ties manifested for instance, when the Athenians imposed economic sanctions on Greek city-states for trading with Sparta during the Peloponnesian War, to maintain naval supremacy in the Aegean Sea (Brunt, 1951; Tuplin, 1979). Further examples are the public boycotts in the city of Mecca against the Banu Hashim (Brown, 2004), or sanctions of the protestant Swiss cantons against Catholic cantons based on religious persecution of protestants (see Kern, 2009). In the 19th century, the Slavery Trade Act (1807) empowered the British navy to enforce the ban on African slave trade. Likewise, the 20th century has seen similar attempts to impose economic disintegration, such as the boycotts of and sanctions on Rhodesia and South Africa in the 1980s (see Minter & Schmidt, 1988) or the Coordinating Committee for Multilateral Export Controls, which aimed to cut off the USSR from Western dual-use technologies.

By contrast, liberalization of economic integration aims at facilitating economic ties and implies the reduction of trade and investment barriers. Economic liberalization can be a large-scale phenomenon. The Silk Road connecting large parts of the Eurasian landmass was a way of economic and cultural exchange among societies and contributed to the spread of religions and philosophies. Likewise, the contemporary wave of globalization sparked a strong decline in trade barriers and intensified global cultural exchange (see Keohane, 2005; Santoro, 2009). Coordinated efforts to increase commercial ties manifested in regional alliances, such as the ASEAN, the European Union, or the Eurasian Union. These organizations aim to enhance trade with countries that accept the respective entry conditions espoused by these organizations. Liberalization of commercial ties with particular countries has also been fostered to enhance commercial ties, sometimes by the use of military force, sometimes through peaceful negotiations. The United States expedition to Korea sought to open up the Joseon dynasty to American economic influence by force, whereas the Clinton administration actively

lobbied for economic integration of post-Mao China (New York Times, 2000). Likewise, the "Ostpolitik" of Willy Brandt sought to integrate countries of the Soviet bloc into the global economy, as attempted the South Korean "Sunshine policy" decades later with North Korea (see Paik, 2002). It therefore follows that the dispute on more and less trade has accompanied political practice since the advent of international affairs begging questions on the arguments and moral objectives behind these measures.

Commercial Ties in the History of Ideas

The observation that nations, but also private entities or groups of individuals, regulate the extent of commercial ties poses questions on the normative theories on commercial ties, in general, and commercial ties to other regimes, specifically. Normative theories inform human beings about how to act morally and how they derive normative judgments (see Homann et al., 2016; Pies, 2020). Applied to our context, normative theories explain when it is morally mandated to reduce or enhance commercial ties.

One stream of arguments appears to derive from a more general moral perspective on commerce and trade (see Homann et al., 2016). Plato condemned trade for its fundamentally private nature and criticized it for distracting citizens from the common good (see Skultety, 2006). Aristotle differentiated between economic actions that serve the community and economic actions that destabilize the polis (Aristotle, ca. 350 B.C.E./1905). Individual profit orientation and common cause were perceived, to different degrees, as representing an insurmountable tradeoff (see Cato, ca. 150 B.C.E./2014; Cicero, 44 B.C.E./1913; Max et al., 2020). By contrast, modern theories on trade largely recommended the expansion of international commercial exchange and provided moral arguments for free trade. In the 18th and 19th century, proponents of utilitarian theories established the benefit for the greatest number of people as a criterion for the evaluation of economic policies (see Bentham, 1780) and began to endorse free trade for its perceived positive effect on social welfare (Krasner,

1976). One example of how these beliefs translated in political decisions are the efforts of Robert Cobden to facilitate trade between England and France, which were driven by the objective of ending pauperism and the conviction that trade contributes to economic wealth. (Cobden, 1842; Krasner, 1976).

Another stream of arguments revolves on the conduct of commercial ties with specific entities or states. In the first chapter of Plato's Republic, Polemarchus defines justice as "acting good to friends and evil to enemies."¹ At the same time, the first theorists of political strategizing, such as Sun Tzu, Thucydides, and Machiavelli, advised state political leaders to consider economic statecraft as a weapon to weaken their rivals (see Peksen & Drury, 2009). Over time, the dispute on the measures discussed became much more nuanced and gravitated from a focus on measures against states to restrictions against individuals accused of human rights or international law violations. Since the 1990s, the current moral and legal debate has been revolving around the enactment of individual, "smart" sanctions, as many scholars (e.g., Hufbauer et al., 1990; Gordon, 2011) have demanded that individuals violating international norms must be held accountable. It is possible to observe a similar trend in contemporary legal frameworks, such as the UK Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Act or the U.S. Global Magnitsky Act, addressing human rights conduct in the supply chain of Western enterprises and the ongoing discussion on these legal measures (see Mantouvalou, 2018). This tendency of individualizing sanctions and other forms of trade restrictions notwithstanding, comprehensive sanctions against nation states still belong to the instruments of economic statecraft and global governance (see Resolution 2397 of the UN Security Council).

¹ This is a rough translation by the author of Socrates' summary of Polemarchus' earlier statement on justice ("Τὸ τοὺς φίλους ἄρα εὖ ποιεῖν καὶ τοὺς ἐχθροὺς κακῶς δικαιοσύνην λέγει;"[Politeia, Book I, 332d 5]).

Reflection on Moral Judgments

Examining the preceding reflection on the morality of trade, it follows that the question of more or less commercial ties with countries considered as deviant from moral standards requires a deeper reflection on the arguments and their origins in the discourse. This applies in specific to the use of comprehensive measures such as trade agreements or sanctions, which are not directed against individuals, but bear implications for the entire economy of the targeted country. Similar examples of the literature reflecting-and even critiquing prevailing moral judgments—can be found in the contexts of morality and markets (Brennan & Jaworski, 2015) or commercial human smuggling (Müller, 2018). To resolve the question of why we argue for more or less commercial ties with non-democracies, this thesis examines the guiding normative and empirical assumptions in the discourse on commercial ties to non-democracies. The division into these two levels serves the purpose of deciphering the moral perceptions of scholars, policy makers, economic decision makers, and observers, who make judgments on commercial ties with non-democracies, and illustrating how they derive arguments for or against commercial ties with non-democracies. The practical syllogism serves here as a tool for analysis of and for the critique on moral judgments (Pies, 2000; Suchanek, 1999), which explains how and why normative conclusions differ. Pies (2020) differentiated here between normative and positive premises, which form the basis of normative conclusions. Accordingly, the explanation of the prohibition of interest, which characterized the moral perspective on the economy in pre-modern Europe (see Aristotle, ca. 350 B.C.E./1905), may be derived from the combination of

- the *normative premise* that the main aim of political leadership is to safeguard political stability and
- the *causal premise* that charging and taking interests stands in conflict with political stability, as individual profit maximization conflicts with the interests of others.

Critiques on the conclusion "prohibition of interest", which originates from the combination of the normative and causal premises, could address either the first level, the idea that political stability constitutes the main aim of political leadership, or the second level, the perception that money lenders acquire wealth at the expense of others. Both premises fundamentally differ from an epistemological standpoint (Pies, 2020). Whereas normative premise refers to the normative objective, empirical conditions (Homann, 1985; Pies, 2020; Suchanek, 1999) refer to causal relations, which we can verify or falsify through empirical research (see Pies, 2020). Breaking down these two levels for the subject of our thesis generates the following articulation of our elaboration (see Table 1).

Table 1

Levels of the Debate on the Ethicality of Commercial Ties with Non-Democracies

	Questions	Positions
Normative premise	Which norms do we want to realize in international commerce?	A, B, and C constitute moral principles in international law.
Causal premise	What effect do commercial ties and the deliberate absence of commercial ties have on the realization of norms?	Trade has a positive/negative influence on norms A & B. Sanctions have a negative/positive impact on C.

The structure of the thesis reflects the distinction between normative and causal premises. The section devoted to the *normative premises* addresses the norms, which define the moral norms for commercial exchange with non-democracies. Additionally, norms specify the legitimacy of means imposed by individuals and organizations on norm violators, to achieve their own moral desiderata. The moral desiderata range here from human rights to international stability and economic development. The subsequent chapter on *causal relations* examines the way individuals perceive the connection between causes and effects in the context of economic exchange with non-democracies.

The thesis does not provide a normative foundation of what we, as actors, scholars or observers, should actually do, nor does it intend to explain why certain actors have certain preferences or whether such actors are consistent in their judgments. Instead, the thesis focuses on two basic questions:

- Which norms form the basis for judgments on commercial ties with non-democracies?
- Which causal theories are assumed to connect norm realization with the quantity and quality of international commerce?

The papers attached to this dissertation, "Artificial intelligence and human rights: A business ethical assessment," "The Xinjiang case and its implications from a business ethics perspective," and "Foreign investment and North Korea's knowledge economy," shed light on different aspects of the normative and causal debate on the matter. "Artificial intelligence and human rights: A business ethical assessment" examines the implications of human rights in the application of technologies, which includes the question of how to prevent human rights violations abroad that are enabled by Al-driven technologies. "The Xinjiang case and its implications from a business ethics perspective" addresses the question of how to tackle overseas operations of Western companies in regions with widespread and structural human rights violations. "Foreign investment and North Korea's knowledge economy" discusses the stance of the North Korean elite on the role of foreign investment as an instrument of technology transfer and the rationale behind transforming the country into a knowledge economy.

Assumptions on Commercial Exchange with Non-Democracies

From the observation that the regulation of commercial ties with foreign societies involves normative statements, it follows that judgments on commercial ties with non-democracies relate to certain implicit and explicit assumptions and premises, which form the "mental model" of the observer. The assumed impact of pre-existing ideas on policies was once encapsulated in Keynes's cynical description of politicians as "slaves of some defunct economist" (1936/2018, p. 327). In "Institutions and mental models", Denzau and North (2000) integrated the idea of mental models, which inform individuals on "how the environment should be structured", in their theory on the genesis and evolution of institutions (see North, 1991). As illustrated by Homann (1985), Suchanek (1999), and Pies (2000), these mental models on morality can be broken down into normative and causal assumptions, which both determine the moral conclusions drawn by observers and the policies recommended by scholars.

Normative Premises

The following chapter addresses the normative premises in the discourse on more or less commercial ties with non-democracies. In the following, we separate the different value judgments made in the discourse and the aims of more or less trade desired by the actors. Here, we distinguish between the two matters of our observation, namely "non-democracies"

and "more or less commercial ties." The first paragraph therefore deals with the question of how we define non-democracies and why they are widely regarded as deviant forms of governance, whereas the second paragraph examines the normative reasons for enhancing or reducing commercial ties with non-democracies.

Normative Statements and Political Regimes

The most general assumption is that non-democracies are regarded as deviant forms of government. Proponents of this position would argue, here, that:

The reason that commercial ties with non-democracies are immoral is that they constitute a deviant form of government.

A differentiation between "good" and "bad" forms of political government appears in the earliest treatises of political thought.² This might appear to thinkers in our contemporary world as the point at which "the distinction between good and deviant has come to be analogous to the distinction between democracy and non-democracy" (Liden, 2014, p. 51). That we use the technical term "non-democracy" rarely in discussion, instead relying on a plethora of alternative words - such as rogue state, dictatorship, outlaw state, and authoritarian regime - to express our discontent with a political regime, depicts the diversity of the methodologies of distinguishing between good and deviant forms of governance (see Sartori, 1970). In line with the variety of concepts to classify the morality of political organizations, the various terms used for non-democracies pertain to the disparate types of norm violations, which will be described in the following.

The terms "authoritarian regime" or "dictatorship" refer to power concentration at the expense of a large part of the population. The shared criterion of these two "deviant" forms of

² Aristotle (1905) distinguished between moral and immoral forms of political regimes based on the welfare they create for the community. [Politics, Book III, 1276a ff.]

governance are that political power is not rooted in "contested elections," but vested in a few individuals, who exclude the majority from access to power and valuable resources (Linz, 2000; see Liden, 2014). Rigging elections, prohibiting political competition, and committing breaches against freedom of press are the actions ascribed to this type of regime (Arendt, 1973; Linz, 2000; North et al., 2009) and constitute in the eyes of their opponents fundamental norm violations. Others base their case against non-democracies on regime performance and opine that non-democracies are less able to realize economic growth than democracies (Barro, 1996, 1997; Acemoglu et al., 2019). This argument is based on the assumption that the political economy of non-democracies limits political and economic competition, in order to satisfy demands of regime-affiliated elites (Bayulgen, 2010; North et al., 2009).

On the contrary, the concepts of "rogue state" or "outlaw state" emphasize on compliance with international law as principal differentiating factor for good and deviant forms of governance. Both terms refer here to countries accused of violating fundamental moral standards of international affairs and destabilizing the international order (see Rawls, 1993). The idea is here that the regime type affects the foreign policy of the respective state and determines the mode of engagement with other entities in the international community. Based on her comparative analysis of totalitarianism, Hannah Arendt (1973) concluded that (unlimited) territorial expansion constitutes a shared criterion for totalitarian regimes. Similarly, John Rawls (1993) proposed that democratic nations should contain expansionist societies by exerting political influence. This idea manifested for example in designation of Iran, Iraq, and North Korea as an "axis of evil," as they were accused of threatening world peace (Washington Post, 2002).

The analysis of the different arguments illuminates that non-democracies are regarded as deviant forms of political organization, because they are seen as incapable of realizing norms desired by moral spectators: They do not realize sufficient guarantees of human rights or sustained social development, and they represent a threat to the international order. The exact

principal differentiating factor for good and deviant forms of governance depends, however, on the moral preferences of the observer in terms of human rights, social development or international stability.

About National Interest and Moral Principles

The question, how to engage economically with non-democracies, depends on the norms one accepts as constitutive principles of international affairs. Although these norms largely overlap with the differentiating factors of good and deviant forms of governance, observers might question the role of morality and international law as principles of international affairs. Therefore, we differentiate between the realist view, which connects commercial ties to considerations of national interest, and the idealist view that commercial ties are bound by normative concepts.

Realism and National Interest

The realist argument implies that states should enhance or reduce commerce with other countries according to their own economic and political interests and not based on universal moral arguments. A proponent of realism would argue that:

Commercial ties that support/contravene domestic economic or political interests of the state should be enhanced/reduced.

The argument is based on the idea that states must prioritize their own interests in foreign trade relations over moral considerations. A distinction between democracy and non-democracy would be ceteris paribus irrelevant for realists (see Friedman, 1995).³

³ The exact meaning of *ceteris paribus* depends —as illustrated later — on the understanding of national interest, which differs from author to author.

The thesis that trade that supports or contravenes domestic economic or political interests of the state should be enhanced or reduced appears to be based on three distinct theories on national interest, which derive from the right to self-defense, classical social contract theory, or sovereignty as a key norm of international affairs (see Jones, 2018). According to the traditional view, national interest originates in the competition of rival nations, which seek either to defend their own place in international affairs or rather to extend their territory and might (see Morgenthau, 1952, 1982; Navari, 2016). Facing the zero-sum game of international relations, the right to self-defense depicts the central norm for political decision-making (Morgenthau, 1952; Ruggie, 1993). The consequence is the perception that liberal dreams are hardly compatible with "international realities" (Mearsheimer, 2018) and that implementing "moral prescriptions without concern for equilibrium" poses a threat to national interest considerations (Kissinger, 2014, p. 367). Alternatively, national interest priorities may be derived from classical social contract theory, which generates moral implications based on a mutual contract among citizens of a state (see Locke, 1689/1947). The duty to defend the life, liberty and pursuit of happiness originating from social contract theory, can be understood as a constitutional mandate to protect the economic needs and liberties of the citizens. Richard Cobden (1842), for example, defended his position against the Corn Laws by pointing to their negative effect of the tariffs on French corn for the British working class. Finally, a focus on national interest can be derived from theories claiming that sovereignty constitutes the fundamental principle of foreign policy (see Cole, 1964). Given the differences among nations in terms of power and might, the exact interpretation of national interest appears to depend on the status of a state in international affairs, however. Alexander Dugin argued that nation states have a moral obligation to secure their position within international relations (Eltsov, 2019), what reflects the role of the Russian Federation as a great power in international affairs. The North Korean Juche ideology appears to be of more defensive character emphasizing on "foreign independence" as an integral part of its foreign policy approach (Lee, 2003).

The different origins and interpretations of the concept notwithstanding, national interest is still identified as a motivation for regulating the extent of commercial ties: The National Security Strategy of the United States (2017) outlines that "U.S. development assistance must support America's national interests" (p. 39) and includes "economic tools—including sanctions, anti-money-laundering and anti-corruption measures, and enforcement actions" as means to deter adversaries" (p.39). The argument does not necessarily only involve political competitors, but economic rivals as well. Donald Trump's case for protectionism was based on the perceived economic negative outcomes of existing trade agreements, even affecting trade relations with long-standing allies such as the Republic of Korea (Lee, 2017). National interest considerations might appear as an argument against sanctions as well. On the basis of their perceived negative effect, German politicians criticized sanctions imposed by the EU on the Russian Federation (Ernst, 2018). The exact interpretation of national interest depends therefore on concrete respective situation policy makers are confronted with and not on abstract moral principles.

The main difference among national interest theories is the role of innocent bystanders in the realization of national interest. Promoting democracy by sanctioning human rights violators might not be a mere self-purpose, but could be beneficial for the strategic long-term considerations of a democratic nation. These appear for example in the writings of Milton Friedman (1995), who explicitly referred to economic collaboration as an instrument of national interest and referred to situations in which national interest and human values coincide. Nevertheless, from the perspective of a strict adherent of national interest, the form of political organization would be of secondary relevance and many proponents of national interest might prefer allied dictatorships to competing democracies.

Idealism and Moral Principles

In contrast to realism, the idealist argument stresses that normative principles stand above national interest arguments and ought to be supported even if they collide with national priorities. An advocate of idealist views could argue that:

Commercial ties that comply/conflict with normative principles and goals should be enhanced/reduced.

In contrast to a national-interest centered view, proponents of universal values would assert that foreign trade policies should prioritize norms over other considerations. The regime type of a country would be relevant, if it conflicts with the norms espoused by the observer.

Most prominently, universal moral principles in international affairs were formulated in Immanuel Kant's *Perpetual peace: A philosophical sketch*, in which the author described states as being situated toward one another as moral persons (Kant, 1796/2010). Accordingly, states have responsibilities not only concerning their own citizens, but also to the international community as a whole (Nye, 2019). The intriguing question concerns here the very origin of morality in international affairs: Do norms of international relations originate in a process of moral self-binding or do they originate in universal principles of fairness and justice?

The smallest common denominator for positions that accept moral responsibilities for states is the principle of "pacta sunt servanda," which requires states to comply with self-imposed obligations. Article 26 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (1969) defines here that "every treaty in force is binding upon the parties to it and must be performed by them in good faith." Accordingly, states are here understood as autonomous subjects and their participation in international frameworks and organizations is voluntary (see Ruggie, 1993; Henkin, 1995/1996). Due to the principle of reciprocity in international affairs, which underpins the notion that states have the right to retaliate in case of violations of international treaties, states are free to terminate treaties, if the counterparty violates its contractual obligations

(Keohane, 1986). Failure to retaliate in case of norm violations could imply the erosion of the norm, because inaction would signal to other contract parties that the norm they are accepting is defunct (see Donaldson 1992; van der Have, 2020). Sanctions—in the sense of retaliation against norm violations—have here the purpose to keep the norm intact and might be specified as part of international treaties in order to incentivize compliance to commonly agreed standards (e.g. Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union; Chapter VII of the UN Charter).

Proponents of the validity of customary law argue that norms defined and accepted by international treaties apply even to actors that have not participated in these international treaties (Donnelly, 1984; Baderin, 2003; Corlatean, 2019). Moreover, these norms might even be superior to norms specified in bilateral treaties, as they constitute universal principles, which pre-exist contractual law (see Donnelly, 1984). When it comes to non-compliance with meta-norms, John Rawls (1993) distinguished between states according to their regard of basic principles of justice. States that do not comply with international justice or norms of international law would be regarded as outlaws or as "rogue states" and do not have the same rights and status as the rest of the international community, enabling the international community to engage in coercive measures against these deviant actors (ibid.). This has influenced the position of many legal scholars, who posit that human rights and other international standards form an elementary part of international customary law (Simma & Alston, 1992; Henkin, 1995/1996; Wettstein, 2015). From this perspective, economic sanctions can be imposed on countries for breaching contractual obligations or universal principles of international law.

Idealist views on streamlining commercial ties to universal principles manifest in different contexts. The idea of reciprocity—understood as a right to retaliate—frequently appears in the discourse on international trade and is used to underscore that economic measures in general must comply with contractual law. In the trade conflict between Japan and South Korea, the Korean government issued the statement that "if Japan intentionally strikes at our economy,

Japan itself will also have to bear significant damage" (Mun, 2019). The importance of pacta sunt servanda has been raised in positions supporting the North Stream II project and contractual obligations of the German government (Straeck, 2020). Others refer to the superiority of universal moral standards over bilateral agreements to defend their conclusions on reducing or enhancing commercial ties. A *Guardian* article titled "British arms sales to Saudi Arabia are immoral and illegal" refuted the idea of "the humanitarian and human rights disaster as a secondary consideration" (Abbott, 2016) and is representative of the stance that international law considerations are more important than economic, political, or strategic benefits (see van Rij & Wilkinson, 2016). Likewise, the idea that "European values" should form a condition for EU funds is based on the idea that commercial ties should incentivize norms specified by EU law (Erlanger, 2020). Moreover, perceived norm violations form the normative basis of the Boycott, Divestment, Sanctions movement (BDS), which argues for a reduction of commercial ties with Israel, or of statements by political parties, endorsing sanctions against the Russian Federation in the wake of the Crimea crisis (Free Democratic Party, 2017, p. 101).

The shared criterion of all idealist approaches is that they emphasize on the relevance of universal moral standards, what distances them from the case-by-case approach of a realist approach. Nevertheless, the different strands of idealist theories do not necessarily arrive at similar conclusions, when it comes to the moral evaluation of commercial ties with non-democracies. One crucial difference concerns for example the question of how to balance contractual obligations and universal norms of international law. A further subject of dissent among idealist positions relates to the idea of reducing commercial ties in the event of breaches of international law or other universal standards by the counterparty. Here, the main question is whether measures imposed in response to norm violations should be designed as punitive measures, addressing the perpetrator, or as preventing measures, supporting the victims of norm violations.

The Moral Desiderata of International Commerce

The normative premise that states must harmonize their foreign trade policies with universal moral principles unfolds major implications for the conduct of commercial ties with nondemocracies. In this context, the Charter of the United Nations is of crucial relevance for idealist approaches, as it forms the common ground for the proponents of universal values and the defenders of the argumentation that norms of international law derive their power solely from contractual obligations (see Simma & Alston, 1992; Henkin, 1995/1996). Apart from constitutive principles of international politics such as the outlawing of use of force, the founding document of the United Nations outlines concrete moral aims for international cooperation. These include the following aspects such as:

- "International peace and security" (UN Charter art. 1, para. 3);
- "Human rights and fundamental rights" (UN Charter art. 1, para. 3); and
- "Problems of an economic, social, cultural, or humanitarian character." (UN Charter art.
 1, para. 3).

These three objectives correspond to different types of rights and norms, which have been substantiated by other norms of the UN Charter or international treaties after 1945. Friendly relations among nations are themselves "based on respect for the principle of equal rights and self-determination of peoples" (UN Charter art. 1, para. 2), which constitutes a right of each UN member state vis-à-vis other subjects of international law. The broader of aim of democratization and human rights realization has been specified by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948), the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1966) and regional human rights conventions. The same applies to the notion of solving problems of an economic, social, cultural, or humanitarian character, which corresponds to the rights enumerated in the International Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights (1966). Given the prominence of human rights, social development and peace in the discourse of

international law and moral philosophy, the implications of each of these concepts for our matter of observation will be covered in the following sections.

International Peace

In the discourse concerning trade and commerce with non-democracies, one might encounter the argument that the regulation of commercial ties with non-democracies should be directed at stabilizing the international order and incentivizing friendly relations among UN member states. This argument can be articulated as follows:

Commercial ties that comply/conflict with the goal of international peace among nations should be enhanced/reduced.

The focus on the realization of peace would address primarily commercial ties with nations that are accused of destabilizing international politics and not necessarily all types of nondemocracies.

Beginning with the Egyptian–Hittite peace treaty, the concept of peace has played a significant role for the evolution of international law (see Bryce, 2006). Likewise, the preservation of peace appears as a major aim of international politics in moral and political philosophy (see Montesquieu, 1748/1973; Bentham, 1780; Immanuel Kant, 1796/1991; John Rawls, 1993; see Conway, 1989). However, the implications of this concept remain ambiguous and the contemporary discourse is characterized by two opposing traditions on the interpretation of peace on commercial ties with non-democracies. The first tradition claims that peace is to be realized by strict adherence to the principle non-interference (ibid.); whereas the second tradition argues that peace is to be realized by the containment of and the political confrontation with belligerent states in international affairs (see Nye, 2018).

The "non-interference" argument hinges on the idea that peace is realized by mutual respect of state sovereignty. To this end, Kant (1796/1991) argued in *Perpetual peace - A philosophical*

sketch against interference in domestic affairs, as it would trigger the collapse of international relations. The norms of sovereignty and peaceful coexistence as constitutive principles of international affairs imply that states are free to self-select principles according to which they design their institutions and internal policies (see McCarthy, 2002; Raponi, 2014). This argumentation has influenced Article 2, para. 7 of the United Nations Charter, which states that "nothing contained in the present Charter shall authorize the United Nations to intervene in matters which are essentially within the domestic jurisdiction of any state", unless international peace is threatened. According to this view, the principle of non-interference or intervention in the internal or external affairs of another State..." (Resolution 36/103 of the UN General Assembly, 1981).

The containment argument focuses on the idea that international law should contain states threatening international peace (Rawls, 1993, see Nye, 2019). From the perspective of international law as a normative concept that merely regulates actions among states and not within states (see Wendt, 1999), imposing sanctions for the purpose of self-defense or to maintain international peace would be legitimate. According to Chapter VII of the UN Charter, the United Nations Security Council (UNSC) is entitled to impose coercive measures including comprehensive economic sanctions on states accused of belligerent actions. Accordingly, severing trade relations with non-democracies is legitimate under the permission of the UNSC, as long as it serves the purpose to prevent states from threatening the international order (see Resolution 60/1 of the General Assembly, 2005). The controversial moral question is whether and to which extent countries can or even should enact own measures against perceived threats, if the UNSC fails to provide international stability.

The two conflicting viewpoints on how to realize peace notwithstanding, the idea that commercial ties should aim at realizing peace is frequently used in the discourse on more or less commercial ties. U.S. sanctions against Iran, for example, have been motivated by the

destabilization of the Middle East by the Iranian government (U.S. Department of Treasury, 2020). Likewise, German politicians have called for sanctions on Saudi Arabia, as it "constitutes a threat to the stability and peace in the region and in the world" (Dagdelen, 2018). However, the idea of peace as a norm of international affairs also applies to arguments favoring more commercial ties with non-democracies. Some regard sanctions against Russia as counterproductive, because "peace, security and stability exist only with Russia, not against Russia" (The Left, 2017, p. 12, p. 100). Likewise, the Chinese government has pointed out the risks for peace of less commercial ties, and has referred sanctions against Xinjiang as "interfering in China's domestic affairs" (see Xie & Fan, 2019).

The tension between these two competing theories on how to enforce peace in international affairs is therefore one of the major reasons of dissent among idealist theories. The Kantian understanding of international affairs stresses the importance of strict non-interference as a necessary precondition for international peace. On the contrary, the Rawlsian view implies that the continuous containment of outlaw states is necessary to keep the international order intact. Given the ambiguities in international law on that matter and the different approaches on the realization of peace, the use of sanctions as a means to the deter aggression belongs to the more controversial aspects within the debate.

Human Rights and Fundamental Rights

In the discourse concerning trade and commerce with non-democracies, one can encounter the argument that the regulation of commercial ties with non-democracies should aim at improving the human rights situation in the country of the commercial partner. Proponents of this view would understand human and fundamental rights as key norms of international commerce and argue as follows:

Commercial ties, which comply/conflict with the goal of improving the human and fundamental rights situation for the population of the partner country, should be enhanced/reduced.

In contrast to the preceding discussion on the role of international peace in international law, the discussions centers here on lacking respect for human rights in non-democracies. The regulation of commercial ties is therefore used to improve the prevailing conditions and includes commercial relations with non-democracies, which abide by international law.

The prominent role of human and fundamental rights in the discourse on economic engagement with non-democracies can be derived from different normative traditions (see Kriebitz & Max, 2020). In moral philosophy, it can be traced back to the rule utilitarian arguments of John Stuart Mill (1859/1998) or the categorical imperative of Immanuel (Kant, 1785/1996). Other arguments derive from international law and center on the codified legal obligations of states toward the international community as a whole.

From the perspective of the rule utilitarian argument, interventions in the autonomy of the individual are only legitimate, if they are based on the consent of the individual concerned or if the liberty of one individual conflicts with the interest of others. According to the harm principle, political power is rooted in the purpose of harm prevention (Mill, 1859/1998, p. 14). As a result, state actions limiting the freedom of individuals face substantial restrictions and are only legitimate in cases of norm collision (see Kriebitz & Lütge, 2020). The deontological perspective on human rights has been paved by the Kantian principle of humanity in the sense of treating "humanity [...] never merely as a means to an end, but always at the same time as an end" (Kant, 1785/1996, p. 429). From the perspective of both theories, human rights define a catalogue of permissible and non-permissible actions. Excessive actions of the state, infringements of political participation, slavery, and use of torture constitute here non-permissible and reprehensible actions (Henkin, 1995/1996; see Kriebitz & Lütge, 2020). Applied to commercial ties, proponents of human rights argue that international commerce

should realize their implementation in the practice of other nations, as they constitute values binding states and commercial enterprises (Donaldson, 1992; Wettstein, 2015).

From the international law perspective, the UN Charter and major human rights conventions entail principles that regulate not only the relations among countries but also domestic affairs. Some authors (Santoro, 2000; Wettstein, 2009) opine that the values enshrined in this convention have become universal values and that they bind states that have not ratified specific human rights treaties. In 1970, the International Court of Justice clarified the role of states as protectors of human rights, arguing that "principles and rules concerning the basic rights of the human person" constitute obligations "towards the international community as a whole" (International Court of Justice, 1970, p. 32). The notion of human rights set forth in the Responsibility to Protect resolution can be linked to an understanding of human rights that binds all subjects of international law, irrespective of whether they have signed human rights treaties or not (see Cohen & Deng, 1998, 2016). More recent interpretations of international law have expanded the responsibility to react to human rights violations outside of the territory (International Commission on Intervention and State Sovereignty, 2001). The Resolution 60/1 of the General Assembly (2005) points here at "appropriate diplomatic, humanitarian and other peaceful means [...] to help protect populations from genocide, war crimes, ethnic cleansing and crimes against humanity", which finally legitimizes governments to engage coercive measures against human rights violators.

The argument for streamlining trade with human rights occurs in various positions: The fact that the Venezuelan government continues to "subvert the Venezuelan people's right to self-determination" has for example motivated American sanctions on Cuba and Venezuela (U.S. Department of State, 2019). Likewise, the Uighur Intervention and Global Humanitarian Unified Response Act of 2019 has the purpose "to direct United States resources to address human rights violations and abuses, including gross violations of human rights" (U.S. Government Publishing Office, 2019). At the same time, human rights considerations appear in positions

endorsing more commercial ties. For example, the Clinton administration's move toward trade with China entails the concept that trade helps to promote human rights in a long-term perspective (New York Times, 2000).

The idea that human rights should be incorporated as a moral factor of international trade relations has resulted in the emergence of two different perspectives on the exact purpose of limiting commercial ties in response to human rights violations (see van der Have, 2020). According to the punitive understanding of sanctions, policy makers are morally obliged to enact economic measures to punish perpetrators of human rights violations. The notion of reducing commercial ties as a punitive measure manifests in the discussion on smart sanctions, which address individuals accused of human rights violations (see Gordon, 2011; van der Have, 2020). According to the preventive understanding of sanctions, international commerce with dictatorships should aim at preventing human rights violations. From the latter perspective, the evaluation of boycotts or sanctions would hinge on the prospective outcome and on the exact conditions prevailing in the targeted country (see Kriebitz & Max, 2020).

Social Development

Although human rights are traditionally defined as defense rights vis-à-vis the state, some interpretations of human rights shed light on the implications of human rights for social development. As a consequence, some approaches combine the expansion of trade relations with the idea of improving the economic and social conditions of the population living in non-democracies. This argument could be articulated as follows:

Commercial ties, which comply/conflict with the goal of fostering economic development of the trade partner, should be enhanced/reduced.

The focus on economic growth can be derived from three distinct sources. The economic interpretation of human rights based on the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1966), utilitarian considerations on social development and the conception of a right to development imply that decision makers need to factor in the potential economic consequences of commercial ties for the local population when deciding on commercial engagement with authoritarian regimes.

The economic interpretation of human rights is based on the idea that the international community and individual nation states have a shared responsibility to advance development on a global level (see Resolution 60/1 of the General Assembly, 2005). The normative basis for the economic rights argument derives from International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1966), which includes a "right to an adequate standard of living" (art. 11, para. 1), a "right to health" (art. 12, para 1) and a "right to education" (art. 11, para. 13).

The utilitarian idea of "greatest benefit to the greatest number" or of effective altruism generates similar implications (see MacAskill, 2019), namely that measures by the international community should be based on the effect of the policies on underprivileged groups (Singer, 1972). One main cause here is specifically the reduction of absolute poverty and famine (ibid.). A similar outcome-oriented view can be found in the UN Charter, which explicitly refers to the aims of higher standards of living, full employment, and conditions of economic and social progress and development (UN Charter, art. 55 a). This moral agenda has been underpined by the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), which define concrete goals for realizing key aspects of social development (see Kriebitz & Lütge, 2020).

The debate on the SDGs is linked to the discourse on a proposed right to development, according to which the international community should support other states in participating in economic, social, cultural, and political development (Villaroman, 2010). The Havana Charter (1947) has specified the aim of international cooperation in the sense "to foster and assist industrial and general economic development, particularly of those countries which are still in

the early stages of industrial development" (Havana Charter art. 1, para. 2). Furthermore, the UN Declaration on the Right to Development (1986) defines development as a collective right, meaning that peoples living in developing countries deserve the same access to the positive effects of international cooperation as those in advanced countries (Villaroman, 2010).

Positions accentuating the moral value of socioeconomic development regularly surface in the debate on commercial ties with non-democracies and address here primarily the permissibility of economy sanctions. Sanctions in general have been criticized for threatening the efforts of the global community to realize economic development and the eradication of poverty (see Reinisch, 2001). The UN Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women for example has concluded that the economic sanctions imposed on North Korea take a disproportionate toll on civilians (Nebehay, 2017). Likewise, the imposition of sanctions on Iran has been regarded as a breach of the right to development by some international organizations, as they were "depriving people from importing their fundamental goods" (see Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights [OHCHR], 2020).

The normative implications of commercial ties with non-democracies for the economic development argument are twofold: Proponents of economic rights would argue that international trade should be conducted in the light of spreading technological exchange and enhancing the capacities of developing countries, irrespective of their regime type. The moral quality of expanding commercial ties and trade agreements would depend on its effects on the realization of social development and the living standards of the population. The second implication concerns the use of sanctions in international politics. The economic rights perspective would suggest that policy makers need to consider the impact of measures aiming at the reduction of commercial ties on the local population.

Causal Premises

The reflection on the norms and principles in international relations has revealed that some normative claims in the debate on commercial ties with non-democracies presuppose certain positive or negative effects of commercial ties on international peace, human rights, or economic development. However, some normative concepts do not consider causal linkages at all. This applies for example to the idea that sanctions are instruments to punish norm violators. Instead, theories on causalities matter primarily for arguments stressing the outcome as a main factor of moral judgment and explain the assumed outcome of the expansion or reduction of commercial ties. Thus, they help us gauge the following:

- The impact of commercial ties with non-democracies on economic development.
- The impact of commercial ties with non-democracies on international peace.
- The impact of commercial ties with non-democracies on democratization.

These aspects might not portray an exhaustive overview of all potential linkages and relevant causal relations, but because they are stated as major aims of the international community, we have a primary focus on these. The construction of alternative concepts such as environmental damage, animal protection, and the promotion of rights for social minorities would proceed in a similar fashion.

The Impact of Commercial Ties on Development

The section on causal premises sets out with elaborating on the influence of commercial ties in terms of socioeconomic development. This order owes to the fact that most of the theories on democratization and international commerce or on peace and international commerce are built upon arguments on economic growth and its impact on democratization. Moreover, it is obviously the most direct link among the causal relationships to be observed. The perception of the exact causal relationship between commercial ties and development nonetheless differs on the basis of the theories prevailing in the discourse.

The Development Argument

For some observers, commercial ties depict a means to realize socioeconomic development as formulated in the United Nation Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) or in the International Covenant of Economic, Cultural and Social Rights (1966). This is based on the following assumption:

The expansion of commercial ties leads to more socioeconomic development and has a positive impact on social development in the target country. Less commercial ties result in less economic development.

This claim originates in the argument that the international division of labor results in economic benefits given comparative cost advantages of developing and developed nations. Most prominently, Adam Smith and David Ricardo theorized that the international division of labor is beneficial for developing and developed nations, respectively (see Smith, 1776/2008; Homann et al., 2016). Richard Cobden (1842) defended his case for free trade with France based on the assumption that trade will have a positive effect on England's poor. Based on these theoretical arguments, economists identified a linkage between commercial ties and the generation of technological spillovers and the economic integration of emerging markets (Anyanwu & Erhijakpor, 2004; see Smith, 1997). Technological spillovers and economic integration are then the forces that reduce absolute poverty or child labor, enhance life expectancy, and improve a series of other socioeconomic performance indicators (De Mello, 1999; Klein et al., 2001; see O'Driscoll, 2017; Ogunniyi & Igberi, 2014). To demonstrate the power of their argument, proponents of the free trade–growth linkage refer to China and Vietnam as positive examples where the expansion of commercial ties with non-democracies contributed to socioeconomic development (Edmonds & Pavnik, 2002; Hoang et al., 2010;

Naughton & Lardy, 1996). Opponents of sanctions make use of equivalent arguments for illustrating the downside of economic sanctions and point here the destructive social and economic effects of sanctions Iran and North Korea (see Nebehay, 2017; Hudson, 2020). From their perspective, interruptions of commercial flows would cause significant civilian pain by worsening public health conditions, economic well-being, and physical security of the populace in target countries (Neuenkirch & Neumeier, 2016; O'Driscoll, 2017; see van der Have, 2020).

The argument that an intensification of commercial ties goes along with rising levels of socioeconomic performance appears in different positions on development policy and in the idea that free and unrestricted trade is a prerequisite for broad-based economic growth (Free Democratic Party, 2012). At the same time, the idea that less commercial ties have a negative effect on development characterizes different positions. European officials argue that an escalation of sanctions against Iran would trigger a "humanitarian crisis" (Hudson, 2020), as they shorten the country's supply with medicine, whereas the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) has urged the United Nations to reduce sanction stress in Cuba, in order to prevent an escalation of the COVID-19 crisis (OHCHR, 2020).

The Dependency Argument

On the contrary, some observers reject the notion of commercial ties as incubators of economic growth and development. For these observers, commercial ties would not translate into socioeconomic development but rather hamper it. This idea is reflected in the following statement:

Commercial ties do not lead to more socioeconomic development and do not have a positive impact on social development in the target country. Less commercial exchange is even solidifying sustainable economic development.

Some theories argue that trade and investment to developing countries in general are problematic, as they foster exploitation at the expense of a sizable part of the population. This argument largely reflects Lenin's point of view that global capitalism implies exploitation of developing countries (Lenin, 1917/1948). Lenin rejected the integration of developing countries in the global economy due to the nature of capitalism and not because of specific political structures in the respective countries. In addition to this more general critique on globalization, proponents of protectionist measures have voiced the argument that reducing international commercial ties in particular areas benefits developing countries (see Chang, 2007). This goes along with the idea of protectionism as an instrument to foster economic growth. More recent proponents of dependency theory (Amin, 1976; Galtung, 1972), which draw from Marxist and protectionist arguments, have shifted the focus to the role of the structural inequality of trade between developed and developing countries, which in their opinion is exacerbated by abusive power structures (Bayulgen, 2010; Blanton & Blanton, 2007). Instead, wealth generated by the commercial interaction between democracies and non-democracies is believed to benefit corrupt elites and multinationals, to drive up domestic inequalities, and to prolong sufferings such as poverty and famine (see Barro, 1996, 1997). A specific emphasis is laid on resourcedependent economies (Bayulgen, 2010; Acemoglu et al., 2019), where economic exchange is perceived to generate relatively few spillovers. As a result, some scholars (see Amin, 1976) and political decision makers (Kriebitz, 2020) have expressed sympathies with policies aimed at delinking the economies of developing countries, non-democracies, and/or countries affected by the "resource course" from globalization and have criticized international organizations for recommending trade liberalization with these groups of countries.

The described arguments have similar implications for interactions between non-democracies and democracies, as they do not regard commercial ties as a driver for social development. This belief manifests in statements that argue that underdevelopment can be attributed to global capitalism (The Left, 2011, p. 25). Apart from the general critique on globalization, some observers accuse Western businesses of enabling "dictators to get rich quickly while creating

a slush fund for the ruling party" (The Africa Report, 2020). This applies to the discussion of China's growing involvement in Africa, what "props up African tyrants" (Lorenz & Thielke, 2007). Others have finally argued that multinationals exploit weak political structures and "profiteering companies continue to pillage Africa's resources, leaving nothing in their wake but poverty, broken promises, and empty holes in the ground" (Hickel, 2011).

The two contradicting views on commerce and development illustrate that not only the social and economic aspects of human rights are a subject of intensive discussion but also the causal linkage connecting commercial ties and development. Here, it is important to note that opinions on the factors gauging the effect of commercial ties on socioeconomic development differ not only between developing and developed countries but also properties such as regime type or resource wealth. Theories aiming to integrate conflicting theoretical claims and empirical findings are here providing a more nuanced picture (see North, 1991; Bayulgen, 2010, Acemoglu et al. 2019). However, they are less prevalent in the public discourse, which tends not to account for the varieties among non-democracies in terms of the resource–wealth and economic structure.

Impact of Commercial Ties on International Peace

Given that many moral and legal traditions define international peace as a major aim in international relations, we examine existing theories on the linkage between commercial ties and international peace. The term peace hinges on whether we define peace as a broader concept that includes social development and adherence to social standards or whether we define peace as the absence of war. For the sake of clarity, the following paragraph examines peace understood as the absence of war.

The 'Peace Through Trade' Argument

Advocates of an expansion of commercial ties with non-democracies argue that increasing commercial ties between different political regimes are accompanied by a lower intensity of violence between states. This argument can be reconstructed in the following way:

The expansion of commercial ties leads to less hostilities among nations. On the contrary, the reduction of commercial ties is likely to destabilize international relations.

The idea of a causal linkage connecting trade and peace can be traced back to different theoretical arguments. One stream of theories in international relations examines the role of interdependencies for the realization of peace (see Nye, 2004; Keohane, 2005), whereas another stream concentrates on prospective social and cultural changes coming along with the intensification of commercial ties (see Wendt, 1992).

Both streams are rooted in a long tradition of political philosophy. Montesquieu (1748/1973) argued that "the natural effect of commerce is to bring peace" (p. 272). His argument was based on the fact that cultural exchange would cure "destructive prejudices" and render *moeurs* (moral values) gentler. Similar views appear in Immanuel Kant's *Perpetual Peace*, where Kant postulated that the spirit of trade will finally affect all nations, or in the writings of Thomas Paine (Movsesian, 2017; see Oman, 2017). In contemporary scholarship, the most general claim is that growth and free trade reduce the likelihood of interstate conflict (see Gat, 2006). For some, the processes of denationalization following cultural exchange (Wendt, 1992) defuse the fundamental problem of anarchy in international relations and have a pacifying effect on international relations. Moreover, interdependencies among nations force governments to create regimes and institutions, which coordinate international actors and mitigate conflicts (Keohane, 2001, 2005). Blanton and Apodaca (2007) studied the role of economic interdependencies and argued that commercial ties enhance the costs of belligerent actions. Accordingly, sanctions would increase the likelihood for a military conflict, as they

reduce interdependencies and threaten existing institutions (Lektzian & Sprecher, 2007). For supporters of this position, the oil embargo of the United States imposed on Imperial Japan would constitute a showcase of sanctions leading to the road of war (Saunders, 2014).

The pacifying role of commercial realization and the "sanctions lead to war argument" (Saunders, 2014) is frequently raised by supporters of an expansion of commercial ties with non-democracies. Egon Bahr (1963) prominently argued that economic growth and development "make life easier for people [...] and strengthen ties through stronger economic relations". Likewise, South Korean President Kim Dae Jung pointed out the role of collaboration and exchange as an instrument to realize peace on the Korean peninsula (Young et al., 2012). In the case of sanctions against the Russian Federation, opponents of the EU sanctions framework assert that the reduction of commercial ties has been incapable of preventing political escalation. On the contrary, commercial ties are perceived as the better option in realizing long-term stability in Europe (see Ismar et al., 2020).

The 'Escalation by Trade' Argument

Advocates of a reduction of commercial ties with non-democracies argue that economic exchange is jeopardizing international relations. This argument can be articulated in the following way:

The expansion of commercial ties with non-democracies leads to more hostilities among nations. On the contrary, the reduction of trade is more likely to force non-democracies to abstain from belligerent actions.

This argument is crucial for positions prioritizing international peace over other considerations and is used for the defense of punitive measures.

The idea of a negative effect of commercial ties on international peace appears to be based on at least two distinct arguments: the idea that international trade in the form of globalization

disenfranchises developing nations and the idea that international trade aids non-democracies in investing in military capacities. The Marxist view attributes international conflict to capitalist trade and to the interest of international capital in the resources of developing countries (Lenin, 1917/1948). This view describes globalization as imperial and unjust peace (see Barkawi & Laffey, 1999). Pushing developing countries into certain Western patterns, which conflict with country-specific characteristics (Amin, 1976; Frank; 1979), combined with the perceived unfair nature of economic interaction between developing and developed countries, would constitute a destabilizing element in international affairs. Governments, which aim to nationalize economic sectors of interest for multinationals, are therefore more likely to be threatened by the host states of multinationals. Based on this argument, some scholars (Amin, 1976) have concluded that globalization is more likely to increase conflicts between developed and developing countries.

Further arguments against trade with non-democracies derive from the idea that economic growth in non-democracies and in outlaw states in specific carries with it higher tensions (see Movsesian, 2017). Non-democracies could use gains from trade to finance military buildup, which is then used to threaten other nations. This argument has been raised within the context of the discussion on economic cooperation between North and South Korea (Brown, 2016) and in the debate on sanctions against Iran (sees U.S. Department of Treasury, 2020).

Irrespective of the different origins of the decoupling argument, the understanding that more commercial ties with non-democracies undermine world peace appears in different positions. Some observers opine that "too often in the past, we have seen that globalization has contributed to war rather than peace" (Prestowitz, 2013). According to Iranian diplomats, "globalization was fragmenting production processes, labor markets, political entities and societies" and "dividing nations and regions" (United Nations, 1999). The containment argument appears in the debate as well. The Greek newspaper Kathimerini published an article specifying that "European leaders [...] might ban Turkish Air landing rights in European

airports for disincentivizing Turkish aggression" (Rubin, 2020). Similar ideas were raised by political observers arguing that sanctions "are a tool necessary to advance peace and avoid bloodshed" (Rubin, 2020). The cessation of North Stream II, for example, is justified by the idea that "it strengthens Russia's power, helps President Putin to build a military power, helps to intimidate other nations" (Deutsche Welle, 2020).

The two contradicting views on commerce and development illustrate that the dissent on the impact of globalization on international relations but also that the different perspectives on the cultural and social impact of commercial ties on the foreign policy approach of non-democracies. This debate continues to be one of the major reasons for dissent of positions defending a closer engagement with non-democracies and positions arguing for a reduction of commercial ties with states, accused of destabilizing international affairs.

The Impact of Commercial Ties on Democratization

Some scholars, who assume a positive linkage of commercial ties on peace, believe that democratization is conducive to international peace (Lake, 1992). This gives room for the claim that, in addition to the discussion of the direct effects of commercial ties on peace, there is an indirect relationship connecting commercial ties, democratization and international peace (see McDonald, 2004).

The 'Change Through Trade' Argument

Proponents of commercial ties with non-democracies typically argue that commercial interaction will foster more respect for human rights in non-democracies and initiate a process of democratization. Their argument can be articulated as follows:

The expansion of commercial ties is conducive for democratization in the partner country. On the contrary, the reduction of commercial ties contravenes the goal of democratization.

Based on the idea that economic ties initiate a process of democratization, some observers have called for an intensification of commercial ties with non-democracies.

The standard theories tend to describe political and economic liberalization as simultaneous processes that support each other (see North, 1991; López-Córdova & Meissner, 2008). Based on this argument, a sizeable number of studies have examined the role of economic integration as a significant predictor of more government respect for human rights (Apodaca, 2001; Mitchell & McCormick, 1988; Mousseau, 2000). The prospective relationship between economic exchange and human rights improvements (see Kim and Trumbore, 2010) has been attributed to two factors. Nye (2004) points here to economic interdependencies as main trigger for political and economic liberalization. Economic decentralization is perceived to accompany a retreat of the state from tight regulation and is likely to increase the freedom of decision makers on the local level, as central governments are unable to implement and regulate all details of national foreign direct investment policies on their own (Malesky, 2008). Others focus on the emergence of a world culture or world society (Niezen, 2008; Lechner, 2009), which brings about a higher respect for individual and human rights (Küng, 2014). Buzan (2004), for example, pointed at the dynamics of international exchange as a factor driving the emergence of individual-based global society. The same logic has been applied to concerns that sanctions have a negative-or at least nonpositive-impact on social change (Hufbauer et al., 1990; Levy, 1999; McMahon, 2006; Powell, 2014). An often-used example in this context is North Korea, which is almost completely isolated from the rest of the world due to international sanctions (see Kim & Hermosillo, 2013) and heavily involved in human rights violations. In this context, some scholars assert that sanctions might even aggravate the human rights situation of already disenfranchised parts of the population (Drezner, 2011; see

Kriebitz & Max, 2020; Peksen, 2016), whereas others (Andreas, 2005) posit that sanctions force human rights violators to engage in even more controversial activities such as busting sanctions through illegal activities.

The idea of commercial ties having a positive impact on human rights is prevalent in the discourse and appears in different political agendas. Former American President Bill Clinton (New York Times, 2000) opined that "over time, I believe it will move China faster and further in the right direction, and certainly will do that more than rejection would". When confronted with the recent escalation over human rights issues in China, German Minister of Trade Altmeier argued that he has "always been convinced [...] that change can be achieved through trade" (Hutt, 2020). On the contrary, sanctions are by some regarded as counterproductive for realizing human rights improvements, as it is an illusion to believe that "economic turbulences will result in a break-down of political regimes" (Bahr, 1963). Similarly, policy makers such as Ronald Reagan warned that "punitive sanctions [...] are not the best course of action" as "they hurt the very people they are intended to help" (Roberts, 1986).

The 'Change Through Confrontation' Argument

Advocates of a reduction of economic exchange with non-democracies might argue that commercial ties have a negative impact on democratization and that coordinated efforts to limit commercial ties might persuade leaders in non-democracies to engage in political reforms. Proponents of this view would argue in the following way:

The expansion of commercial ties leads to a deterioration of human rights and hampers the democratization of institutions in non-democracies. On the contrary, the reduction of commercial ties can be an instrument to incentivize human rights improvements and for realizing democratization.

Based on the perceived negative effects of commercial ties on the human rights situation in non-democracies, some observers have called for economic disintegration with non-democracies.

Their case for economic disintegration can be derived from two traditions: The exploitation argument and the economic cost argument. According to the exploitation argument, foreign enterprises exploit the rights of the population by conducting trade with non-democracies. In particular, proponents of dependency theory (see Blanton & Blanton, 2007; Lenin, 1917/1948) have posited that multinationals stand to benefit economically from autocratic power structures in developing countries. From this standpoint, foreign companies raise the productivity of regime-controlled entities and do not support the local economy or economic decentralization (see Alfaro et al., 2004; Bayulgen, 2010; Koizumi & Kopecky, 1980; Mousseau, 2006). The surplus generated in these forms of collaboration between regime-affiliated entities and Western enterprises bolsters the legitimacy and power of authoritarian regimes (Escriba-Folch, 2016) instead of triggering political change (see Feng, 1997). Proponents of the view often point at historic precedents in Latin America (Feng, 1997; Kopper, 2017) and Africa, where foreign enterprises reportedly colluded with authoritarian regimes at the expense of minority rights.

Another phase of the argument emphasizes on the idea that the reduction of commercial ties following boycotts or sanctions imposes high economic and political costs on political leaders. Baldwin referred to coercive measures affecting "the calculus of decision-making" (Baldwin, 1985; see Gordon, 2011). In detail, proponents of less commercial ties argue here that punitive measures increase the scarcity of goods within an economy and might destabilize authoritarian regimes. Here, Rhodesia (Minter & Schmidt, 1988) and South Africa (Hanlon & Omon, 1987) are often regarded as role models for how economic pressure from outside can lead to reforms. These arguments have been applied, for example, in the context of sanctions in Myanmar and North Korea (White, 2004; Brown 2016).

The idea that the coordinated reduction of commercial ties imposes democratization on authoritarian regimes manifests in different geopolitical and economic contexts (see Hutt, 2020). Positions embracing a more confrontational stance on non-democracies often seek to debunk the "change through rapprochement" argument (Szabo, 2020). In an article in *The Welt*, Herzinger (2019) examined the morality of trade with China and Russia and argued that history has proven the motto "change through trade" wrong. The empirical observation drawn by the author is that "international integration has not led to a democratization of powers such as China and Russia" (ibid., 2019). Instead, proponents of less exchange with non-democracies lobby for more confrontational policies such as sanctions or delinking and reducing commercial ties in security-relevant areas, including the transfer and development of technology (ibid., 2019).

Considering the two opposing streams of literature on the effects of trade, the debate on the effect of trade and human rights depicts a complex issue. The reason might be that the theories, which aim at establishing a linkage, concentrate on different timeframes (see Minter & Schmidt, 1988; Malesky, 2008). Moreover, the assessment of the empirical studies requires some caution owing to the fact that it might be difficult to track political changes initiated by commercial ties to establish clear causal mechanisms for making sense of the impact of commercial interactions on human rights.

Academic Contributions

The doctoral thesis is based on the following three submissions to international journals authored by Alexander Kriebitz. More information on the individual contribution of the Alexander Kriebitz and the other authors can be retrieved in the appendix of this dissertation.

These contributions add input to the debates on the following:

- The impact of digital technologies on the concept of human rights and the human rights implications of technological exchange.
- The implications of existing normative concepts on the exchange with nondemocracies.
- The rationale of non-democracies in using commercial exchange with democracies in order to realize modernization.

Artificial Intelligence and Human Rights: A Business Ethical

Assessment

This article was published in February 2020 in Business and Human Rights Journal of Cambridge University Press (Kriebitz & Lütge, 2020) and can be accessed at the following link: doi.org/10.1017/bhj.2019.28

The moral question of commercial ties with non-democracies not only revolves around traditional forms of commercial exchange involving commodities, natural resources, or labor exports but increasingly concerns the exchange of digital technologies, including artificial intelligence (AI). These digital technologies not only unfold strong economic dynamics but generate new normative challenges, given the potential impact of AI on human beings and human interaction, as well as an intensifying race for technological leadership on a global level.

Given the increasing human rights obligations of companies and the intensifying discourse on AI, this paper sheds light on the responsibilities of corporate actors in the context of AI and aims to bridge the discourse on corporate ethics with the discourse on AI ethics. Based on our elaborations on the nature and moral qualities of AI, we define the technology as a dual-use good, which can generate positive and negative effects on human rights. In the context of AI for social good, the paper discusses the opportunities and risks that come along with AI. Evaluating the prospective impact of AI on the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the paper links the ongoing debate on the principle of beneficence in AI ethics with the understanding of economic and development rights, which originate from the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and SDGs. Considering the debate on exchange with non-democracies and democracies, the positive effect of AI on social rights would justify closer technological exchange.

However, the use of AI can also fall into areas where it has the potential to conflict with human rights. Here, we distinguish between cases where the input of the AI solution conflicts with human rights, cases where the output of AI leads to unintended human rights violations, cases where the use of AI conflicts with human rights, and, finally, cases where AI is used to commit human rights violations. Whereas the first three cases generate mainly implications for nation states and companies, the latter case connects to a more fundamental problem. The question of AI use cases directed against human rights applies in specific to technological transfer with states that have a poor record of human rights. Here, the dual-use character is problematic

given a potential tradeoff between the role of AI as an incubator of growth and sustainable development and the role of AI as an instrument, which might even foster repression and human rights violations. However, this problem is not solvable from the perspective of AI or corporate ethics but requires a more fundamental debate in the human rights discourse on the ethical and legal boundaries of technological exchange.

The Xinjiang Case and Its Implications from a Business Ethics Perspective

This article was published in May 2020 in Human Rights Review (Kriebitz & Max, 2020) and can be accessed at the following link: doi.org/10.1007/s12142-020-00591-0

The article "The Xinjiang Case and Its Implications from a Business Ethics Perspective" elaborates on ethical implications of human rights violations in the supply chains of multinational companies. The example discussed here concerns the case of Xinjiang, where human rights organizations and NGOs accuse the Chinese government of conducting human rights violations. However, the case of Xinjiang differs from previous human rights violations discussed in the business and human rights discourse, as it concerns one of the world's largest economies. So far, literature has examined the conflict between globalization and human rights in countries with a weaker position in international affairs or a higher degree of economic isolation such as North Korea, Myanmar, Sudan, or South Africa.

For this purpose, the article analyzes the normative basis for governmental and corporate actions in the context of Xinjiang. The UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights and the Responsibility to Protect Resolution depict here the normative fundaments for the discussion of the Xinjiang case. When applying the normative principles to the Xinjiang case, we identify that the human rights responsibilities for companies in the cases of conflict between national law and human rights are still ill-defined. Moreover, it remains unclear whether

companies should remain or leave the region. The paper therefore proceeds with the assumption that measures taken by states and enterprises should yield improvements for the local population. The rationale is here that policies should have the aim of enhancing the costs of maintaining the status quo. For this purpose, the contribution analyzes the interests of key players in the region, including the Han Chinese population in Xinjiang, domestic companies in the technology sector, state-owned companies and the central government in Beijing. Here, one can observe a political economy of entities that stand to profit from the disenfranchisement of the ethnic minorities, including the agricultural sector and state-owned companies. Following this, we discuss which economic measures will improve the human rights situation and how these measures might contribute to an improvement of the situation. The main finding here is that the ways to exert influence on the Chinese government remain limited and that uncoordinated measures will fail to bring about change. However, smart sanctions might render some parts of the exploitation-based economic structure less lucrative and enhance the financial burden on the regional government, whereas comprehensive divestment is more likely to harm the local population.

Foreign Investment and North Korea's Knowledge Economy

This article was published in fall 2020 in North Korean Review (Kriebitz, 2020) and can be accessed at the following link: jstor.org/stable/26975891

The paper "Foreign Investment and North Korea's Knowledge Economy" discusses North Korea's interest in the knowledge economy and the rationale behind the regime's plans of ramping up technology transfer with foreign partners. The findings of this paper are highly important for the general discourse of technological proliferation and exchange with non-democracies.

In order to decipher Pyongyang's recent steps towards economic exchange, we evaluate these questions by examining data delivered by international organizations as well as previous literature on the North Korean economy and by systematically analyzing Rodong Sinmun articles and contributions of North Korean researchers in the Kim II-sung University Journal. Based on the review of these sources, we conclude that the North Korean elite is aware of the necessity to cooperate with foreign companies to gain access to new technologies. Due to the explicit reference to foreign direct investment and foreign exchange in the knowledge economy, garnering foreign investment in technology-intensive industries appears to be one of the top priorities of North Korean economic policy. Nevertheless, North Korea appears to remain distanced when it comes to full liberalization, as it continues to regard too much dependence on foreign forces as a threat to its efforts to become a self-reliant economy. Moreover, one major obstacle for more commercial ties appears to be the interrelatedness of military and economic interests. This applies even to the conceptualization of the knowledge economy and its intersection between military and civilian use cases. From the overall perspective of the dissertation, we generate some important insights. North Korea and arguably other isolated non-democracies have a strong desire to achieve technological modernization. Here, technology transfer might be used as a bargaining chip in future negotiations with isolated countries, in order to realize disarmaments or improvements in human rights. Nevertheless, we recognize the potential for a conflict between the realization of social development through unlimited technological exchange and the threat technological innovations in non-democracies pose to human rights and international peace.

Discussion

Which norms form the basis for judgments on commercial ties with non-democracies? Which causal theories are assumed to connect norms and values of international law with trade and commerce? Disagreement on the question of whether to enhance or reduce commercial ties with dictatorships materializes in different forms. As discussed, arguments for both positions can be based on different normative premises and competing theories on causal relations, which connect the norms to be realized with human action. The preceding discussion allows us to reconstruct not only how observers derive their moral conclusions but also the main premises which determine their stance on commercial engagement with non-democracies. For this purpose, we present here some questions that are implicitly or explicitly tackled in arguments for more or less trade.

Are norms relative or are norms universal?

The main difference among moral observers appears to lie in the question of whether we understand norms as principles that originate in a process of self-binding or whether we believe in norms that pre-exist processes of moral self-binding (see Singer, 1972; Donaldson 1992; Hsieh, 2015; Wettstein, 2015; Corlatean, 2019). This tension is currently solved by the assumption that norms in international law can be divided in universal norms, which pre-exist codified international law, and norms, which originate in self-binding processes based on bilateral or multilateral agreements (Donnelly, 1984; D'Amato, 2010). However, the debate

does not address the continuous evolution of norms and the increasing prevalence of universalist positions in areas outside of the traditional debate on international ethics such as environmental protection, diversity, or animal rights. Therefore, changes of normative perceptions will yield future implications on the conduct of commercial ties with other societies and might even reconfigure the definitions of good and deviant forms of government (compare Sartori, 1970).

Is our focus to punish entities violating norms or is our focus to improve the world?

Another dispute on the morality of commercial ties with non-democracies concerns the very purpose of the trade restrictions. According to some (see van der Have, 2020), the cessation of commercial ties serves the purpose of punishing norm violators and defending the acceptance of norms. Here, the reduction or cessation of commercial ties has a signal function primarily directed against other potential norm-violators. For others, the regulation of commercial ties serves the purpose of contributing to the long-term realization of moral desiderata (see Minter & Schmidt, 1988). The question of whether these two purposes conflict with one another is part of the empirical debate, while the question of to what degree we balance between both purposes is of a normative nature. The later debate corresponds with the more general philosophical dispute on the focus of moral action in terms of consequences (Bentham, 1780) or principles (Kant, 1785/1996).

To what extent do we factor in the role of innocent bystanders?

Another fundamental difference among observers appears to be the question of whether moral considerations in international affairs and in international trade should focus on the interests of the in-group or include bystanders. Normative theories stressing the obligations towards the in-group would include the concepts of national interest, state sovereignty, and traditional

social contract theory (see Friedmann, 1995). Moral obligations and aims originate here in the preferences of the in-group (Haidt & Kesebir, 2010), which generate moral implications for regulating commercial ties in general. For some (Friedman, 1995), the interests of third parties such as the domestic situation of a trade partner might be of instrumental value for the long-term interests of the in-group (for example the American electorate). On the contrary, proponents of altruistic preferences would include the interests of third parties right from the beginning and understand them as a moral self-purpose. One might read here the argument of Peter Singer (1972) as an approach that prioritizes the interests of the least advantaged in non-democracies (out-group) over the interests of the in-group in wealthy and powerful economies (in-group). This applies to normative theories in international affairs and to the debate on commerce with dictatorships as well. In practice, the choice of observers will be situated within the continuum between preferences for an in-group–based concept of morality or a cosmopolitical interpretation of morality in international affairs (see Kant, 1796/2010).

Are political rights superior to economic rights?

Even if we tie the regulation of commercial ties to the interests of innocent bystanders, policy makers and observers are confronted with two different interpretations of how to assess the effect of particular measures on these interests. The political rights view argues that human rights revolve around the free will of a person and that individuals should live unrestricted from external force (Mill, 1859/1998; Berlin, 2016). Commercial ties would therefore have the purpose of contributing to the improvement of defense rights against the state. In contrast, advocates of economic rights would suggest that commercial ties should be aimed at realizing economic and social benefits for the local population. Once again, the question of whether the two moral aims conflict with one another in practice is part of the empirical debate, while the question of to what degree, we balance between both purposes, constitutes an act of norm derogation.

What is the time horizon of our moral agenda?

Rationales for regulating commercial ties with non-democracies appear to differ in terms of time horizon as well (see Kant, 1796/2010). Theories on the impact of more or less commercial ties with non-democracies argue that sharp drops in commercial exchange will have an immediate economic effect or that scaling up commercial trade will alter the foreign policy preferences of political leaders of non-democracies from a long-term perspective. The factor of time might vary according to the causal theory used to back up the argument for a certain policy (see Minter & Schmidt, 1988). Proponents of the deterrence argument might assume a shorter period between proposed action (e.g., sanctions) and desired result (e.g., disarmament), while theorists such as Immanuel Kant (1796/2010), who factor in social change, might be ready to accept a longer distance between measures taken and desired outcome. The key empirical question here is whether short-term gains and long-term aims conflict with each other, while the normative debate concerns the question of how to balance between conflicting short-term and long-term consequences of policy measures. The debate resembles the current debate in economics and psychology on the preferences of individuals concerning short time versus long-term interests (see Loewenstein and Prelec, 1993; Frederick et al., 2002; Cohen et al., 2020).

Can commercial exchange and ethical purposes be realized simultaneously?

Normative judgments on the causal relationship between commercial ties and ethical norms are embedded in a more general context of how to evaluate the effect of commercial interactions on moral values (see Movsesian, 2017; Oman, 2017; Pies, 2020). In the debates on the effect of commercial ties on socio-economic development, peace and human rights, we encounter positions arguing that the expansion of commercial ties per se contravenes ethical goals. The problem here is not so much the idea that democracies trade with non-democracies, but rather the nature of trade, which is believed to generate negative externalities for innocent

bystanders. In contrast to these dualistic positions, monistic positions would argue that the impact of commercial ties with non-democracies on the moral desiderata would depend on the way commercial interaction is conducted and that economic integration, peace, and human rights are compatible with each other (Smith 1776/2008; Homann et al., 2016). The differences between monistic and dualistic approaches are decisive, as they recur in all debates that link commercial ties with moral values and have a fundamental impact on common moral perceptions.

Conclusion

Studying the arguments for more and less commercial ties with non-democracies generated major implications for the research questions posed in the beginning. The first finding is that the participants in this dispute might not have a shared view on the very definitions of good and deviant political regimes as well as on the key norms and principles of international relations. Hence, the regulation of commercial ties is therefore seen as an instrument of realizing the norms prioritized by the moral observer. The values of the observers themselves depend on questions at the meta-ethical level, such as the following: To what extent do we balance between the interest of the in-group and universal standards? Is our focus to punish entities violating norms or is our focus to improve the world? Are norms relative or are norms universal? Do we focus on states or on individuals? Are political rights more important or economic rights?

The second finding is that observers have different models in mind when they evaluate the effect of commercial ties with non-democracies. Apart from more general monistic or dualistic position on the relationship between commerce and morality, causal theories tend to differ in terms of time horizon and integration of economic, political and cultural factors, when reflecting on the consequences of commercial ties on objectives such as creating economic growth or fostering democratization.

In practice, the linkages, which form our moral judgment on democracies and non-democracies are often more complex than traditionally assumed. Human rights violations, for example, occur not only in non-democracies, but also in democratic countries. Some non-democracies are more able to realize economic growth and some non-democracies are less likely to engage in warfare. These inherent complexities conflict with the very broad criteria of ethical evaluation, which form the basis of our evaluation. From this perspective, the doctoral thesis aims to contribute to the discourse with two implications for further examination:

The first is of descriptive nature and relates to the question of how economic, social, and political interests of actors translate into the beliefs held by moral observers and how consistent moral spectators are when judging commercial ties with non-democracies. Comprehending this aspect would be helpful for deciphering the moral motivation and political objectives behind economic decisions made by politicians in regard to non-democracies.

The second implication is normative: The coexistence of different and perhaps even conflicting norms begs the question of how to balance the norms, which often represent different stakeholder groups, in the moment of moral judgment. The decision is complicated by the fact that empirical linkages tend to be uncertain, given the dissent on the causal theories and the lack of information, when it comes to breaking down these causal theories to the examination of specific countries. This concerns isolated places such as Myanmar, North Korea, Sudan or Xinjiang, where the real impact of policies might prove hard to judge. One preliminary normative conclusion could be that we should be more careful in making normative statements concerning commercial ties with non-democracies, given the existence of blurring definitions, difficult causal connections, and conflicting norms. Another preliminary normative conclusion could be that mercial ties with non-democracies should factor in proportionality as a principle in the judgment of commercial ties, which forces policy makers to take a more nuanced view on the different norms and vital interests that are at stake.

References

- Abbott, D. (2016, March 25). British arms sales to Saudi Arabia are immoral and illegal. *Guardian*. Retrieved March 10, 2021. https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2016/mar/25/british-arms-sales-saudiarabia-immoral-illegal-yemen
- Acemoglu, D., Naidu, S., Restrepo, P., & Robinson, J. A. (2019). Democracy does cause growth. *Journal of Political Economy*, *127*(1), 47–100.
- Alfaro, L., Chanda, A., Kalemli-Ozcan, S., & Sayek, S. (2004, October). FDI and economic growth: the role of local financial markets. *Journal of International Economics* 64(1), 89–112.
- Amin, S. (1976). Unequal development: An essay on the social formations of peripheral capitalism. Harvester Press.
- Andreas, P. (2005). Criminalizing consequences of sanctions embargo busting and its legacy. *International Studies Quarterly, 49*(1), 335–360.
- Anyanwu, J., & Erhijakpor, A. (2004). Trends and determinants of foreign direct investment in Africa. *West African Journal of Monetary and Economic Integration, Second Half*, 2144.
- Apodaca, C. (2001). Global economic patterns and personal integrity rights after the Cold War. *International Studies Quarterly, 45*(4), 587–602.
- Arendt, H. (1973). The origins of totalitarianism (Vol. 244). Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Aristotle. (1905). Aristotle's Politics. Clarendon Press. (Original work dated from ca. 350 B.C.E.).
- Baderin, M. A. (2003). International human rights and Islamic law. Oxford University Press.
- Bahr, E. (1963). Wandel durch Annäherung. [Change through rapprochement]. Retrieved March 10, 2021 https://www.1000dokumente.de/pdf/dok_0091_bah_de.pdf

Baldwin, D. A. (1985). *Economic Statecraft*. Princeton University Press.

- Barkawi, T., & Lafey, M. (1999). The imperial peace: Democracy, force and globalization. *European Journal of International Relations 5*(4), 403–434.
- Barro, R. J. (1996). Democracy and growth. Journal of Economic Growth, 1(1), 1–27.
- Barro, R. J. (1997). Getting it right: Markets and choices in a free society. MIT Press.
- Bayulgen, O. (2010). Foreign investment and political regimes (The oil sector in Azerbaijan, Russia, and Norway). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511676048
- Bentham, J. (1780). Of the principle of utility. In *An introduction to the principles of morals and legislation* (pp 1–6). T. Payne and Sons.
- Berlin, I. (2016). Two concepts of liberty. In R. Blaug & J. Schwarzmantel (Eds.), (pp., 111-115). Edinburgh University Press. (Original work published in 1958).
- Blanton, R. G., & Apodaca, C. (2007). Economic globalization and violent civil conflict: Is openness a pathway to peace? *The Social Science Journal, 44*(4), 599–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soscij.2007.10.001
- Blanton, R., & Blanton, S. (2012). Rights, institutions, and foreign direct investment: An empirical assessment. *Foreign Policy Analysis, 8*(4), 431–451. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-8594.2011.00161.x
- Blanton, S., & Blanton, G. (2007). What attracts foreign investors? An examination of human rights and foreign direct investment. *Journal of Politics, 69*(1). 143-155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2508.2007.00500.x
- Blum, J., Dorn, F., & Heuer, A. (2021, January). *Political institutions and health expenditure* [Working papers no. 345]. ifo Institut.
- Brennan, J. F., & Jaworski, P. (2015). *Markets without limits: Moral virtues and commercial interests*. Routledge.
- Brown, D. (2004). A new introduction to Islam. Blackwell Publishing.
- Brown, W. (2016, February 18). *The economics of Kaesong*. 38North.org. Retrieved September 1, 2020. https://www.38north.org/2016/02/wbrown021816/.
- Bryce, T. (2006). The 'Eternal Treaty' from the Hittite Perspective. British Museum Studies in Ancient Egypt and Sudan, (1), 6-11.
- Brunt, P. A. (1951). The Megarian Decree. *The American Journal of Philology*, *72*(3), 269–282.
- Buzan, B. (2004). From international to world society? *English school theory and the social structure of globalization*. Cambridge University Press.
- Cato, M. P. (2014). De agricultura. In W. Hopper & H. B. Ash (Eds.), *On agriculture*. Harvard University Press. (Original work dated from ca. 150 B.C.E.).

- Chang, H. (2007). *Bad Samaritans: Rich nations, poor policies and the threat to the developing world*. Random House Business Books.
- Cicero, M. T. (1913). De officiis. In W. Miller (Ed.), *De Officiis* (W. Miller trans.). William Heinemann. (Original work dated from 44 B.C.E.). Retrieved March 10, 2021 https://doi.org/10.4159/DLCL.marcus_tullius_cicero-de_officiis
- Cobden, R. (1842, February 24). *The Corn Laws: Speech of, Esq., M.P. R. Cobden in the House of Commons, on Thursday Evening, February 24, 1842.* J. Gadsby, n.d. Retrieved March 10, 2021 https://oll-resources.s3.us-east-2.amazonaws.com/oll3/store/titles/2649/Cobden_CornLawsSpeech1654_Bk.pdf.
- Cohen, J., Ericson, K. M., Laibson, D., & White, J. M. (2020). Measuring time preferences. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *58*(2), 299–347.
- Cohen, R., & Deng, F. M. (1998). Exodus within borders The uprooted who never left home. *Foreign Affairs,* 77, 12.
- Cohen, R., & Deng, F. M. (2016). Sovereignty as responsibility. In E. Editor (ed,) *The Oxford handbook of the responsibility to protect* (Vol. 74, pp. 74-93). Oxford University Press.
- Cole, C. W. (1964). Colbert and a century of French mercantilism (Vol. 2). Archon Books.
- Conway, S. (1989). Bentham on Peace and War. Utilitas, 1(1), 82-101. doi:10.1017/S095382080000078
- Corlatean, T. (2019, April 25). *The incompatibility of the Sharia Law and the Cairo Declaration on Human Rights in Islam with the European Convention on Human Rights* [Conference session]. The 12th International RAIS Conference on Social Sciences & Humanities. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3387907
- D'Amato, A. (2010). *Human rights as part of customary international law: A plea for change of paradigms* (Faculty Working Papers, No. 88). Northwestern University School of Law.
- Dagdelen, S. (2018). *Kumpanei mit Saudi-Arabien beenden* [End cronyism with Saudi Arabia]. Retrieved March 10, 2021 https://www.linksfraktion.de/presse/pressemitteilungen/detail/kumpanei-mit-saudiarabien-beenden/.
- De Mello, L. R. (1999). Foreign direct investment-led growth: evidence from time series and panel data. *Oxford Economic Papers, 51*(1), 133–151.
- Denzau, A., & North, D. (2000). Shared Mental Models: Ideologies and Institutions. In A. Lupia, M. McCubbins, & S. Popkin (Eds.), *Elements of Reason: Cognition, Choice, and the Bounds of Rationality* (Cambridge Studies in Public Opinion and Political Psychology, pp. 23-46). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511805813.002

- Deutsche Welle. (2020). Nord Stream 2: Poland urges Germany to drop Russia's gas pipeline project. https://www.dw.com/en/germany-russia-nord-stream-2-poland/a-54867550.
- Donaldson, T. (1992). The ethics of international business. Oxford University Press.
- Donaldson, T., Dunfee, T. (1999). When ethics travel: the promise and peril of global business ethics. *California Management Review 41*(4), 45–63.
- Donnelly, J. (1984). Cultural relativism and universal human rights. *Human Rights Quarterly* 6(4),400–419. https://doi.org/10.2307/762182
- Drezner, D. W. (2011). Sanctions sometimes smart: Targeted sanctions in theory and practice. *International Studies Review, 13*(1), 96–108. doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2486.2010.01001.x
- Edmonds, E., & Pavcnik, N. (2002). *Does globalization increase child labor? Evidence from Vietnam* (NBER Working Paper Series, No. 8760). National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Eltsov, P. (2019). *The long telegram 2.0: A neo-Kennanite approach to Russia*. Lexington Books.
- Erlanger, S. (2020, April 22). Poland and Hungary use coronavirus to punish opposition. *New York Times*. Retrieved March 10, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/22/world/europe/poland-hungary-coronavirus.html.
- Ernst, K. (2018). Pressemitteilung: Sanktionen beenden und Beziehungen zu Russland normalisieren. [Press release: End sanctions and normalize relations with Russia] Retrieved March 10, 2021 http://www.mdb-klausernst.de/2018/03/05/pressemitteilung-sanktionen-beenden-und-beziehungen-zurussland-normalisieren/
- Escriba-Folch, A. (2016). Foreign direct investment and the risk of regime transition in autocracies. *Democratization 24* (1 July), 61–80.
- Feng, Yi. (1997, July). Democracy, political stability and economic growth. *British Journal of Political Science* 27(3), 391–418.
- Frank, A. G. (1979). Dependent accumulation and underdevelopment. Monthly Review Press.
- Frederick, S., Loewenstein, G., & O'donoghue, T. (2002). Time discounting and time preference: A critical review. *Journal of economic literature*, *40*(2), 351–401.
- Free Democratic Party. (2012). Verantwortung für die Freiheit. Karlsruher Freiheitsthesen der FDP für eine offene Bürgergesellschaft.
- Free Democratic Party. (2017). Das Programm der Freien Demokraten zur Bundestagswahl 2017. Schauen wir nicht länger zu. [The free democrats' program for the 2017

general election. let's not watch any longer]. Retrieved March 11, 2021 https://www.fdp.de/sites/default/files/uploads/2017/08/07/20170807-wahlprogrammwp-2017-v16.pdf.

- Friedman, M. (1995). *Foreign and economic aid Means and objectives*. Hoover Institution on War, Revolution and Peace, Stanford University.
- Galtung, J. (1972). A structural theory of imperialism. African Review, 1(4), 93–138.
- Garriga, A. (2016). Human rights regimes, reputation, and foreign direct investment. *International Studies Quarterly, 60*(1),160–172.
- Gat, A. (2006). War in Human Civilization. Oxford University Press.
- Gordon, J. (2011). Smart sanctions revisited. *Ethics & International Affairs 25*(3), 315–335.
- Grauvogel, C., & von Soest , J. (2014). Claims to legitimacy count: Why sanctions fail to instigate democratisation in authoritarian regimes, *European Journal of Political Research 53*(4), 635–653.
- Haidt, J., & Kesebir, S. (2010). Morality. In S. T. Fiske, D. T. Gilbert, & G. Lindzey (Eds.), Handbook of social psychology (pp. 797–832). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470561119.socpsy002022.
- Hanlon, J., & Omon, R. (1987). The sanctions hand book. Penguin.
- Havana Charter. November 21, 1947. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.wto.org/english/docs_e/legal_e/havana_e.pdf
- Henkin, L. (1995/1996). Human rights and state sovereignty. Sibley Lecture/Keynote Address. in: *Georgia Journal of International and Comparative Law, 25*(1 & 2), 31–46.
- Herzinger, R. (2019, November 30). Kein Wandel durch Handel. [No change through trade] Die Welt. Retrieved March 21, 2021 https://www.welt.de/debatte/kommentare/article203949574/Totalitaere-Systeme-Kein-Wandel-durch-Handel.html.
- Hickel, J. (2011, June 16). Saving Uganda from its oil. *Foreign Policy in Focus*. Retrieved March 21, 2021 https://fpif.org/saving_uganda_from_its_oil/.
- Hoang, T., Wiboonchutikula, P., & Tubtimtong, B. (2010). Does foreign direct investment promote economic growth in Vietnam? *ASEAN Economic Bulletin, 27*(3), 295–311. https://doi.org/10.1355/ae27-3d.
- Homann, K. (1985). Legitimation und Verfassungsstaat [Legitimacy and constitutional state]. *Jahrbuch für Neue Politische Ökonomie,* 4, 48–72.
- Homann, K., Koslowski, P., Lütge, C. (2016). *Globalization and business ethics: Law, ethics and economics*. Taylor & Francis Ltd.

- Hsieh, N. (2015). Should business have human rights obligations? *Journal of Human Rights 14*(2), 218–36.
- Hudson, J. (2020, October 8). Trump administration to impose sanctions on Iran as Europe warns it will trigger humanitarian crisis. *The Independent*. Retreived March 12, 2021 https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/trump-us-iran-sanctions-europe-humanitarian-crisis-b883404.html.
- Hufbauer, G. C., Schott, J. J., & Elliott, K. A. (1990). *Economic sanctions reconsidered: History and current policy* (Vol. 1). Peterson Institute.
- Hutt, D. (2020, July 25). Germany's "change through trade" fallacy with China. *The Geopolitics*. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://thegeopolitics.com/germanys-change-through-trade-fallacy-with-china/.
- International Commission on Intervention and State Sovereignty [ICISS]. (2001). *The Responsibility to Protect*. Retrieved March 05, 2020, responsibilitytoprotect.org/ICISS%20Report.pdf.
- International Court of Justice. (1970). *Barcelona Traction, Light and Power Company case* (ICJ Reports). Retrieved March 27, 2021 http://www.worldlii.org/int/cases/ICJ/1970/1.html
- International Covenant of Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights. December 16, 1966. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CESCR.aspx
- International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. December 16, 1966. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/ccpr.aspx
- Ismar, G., Haselberger, S., & Müller von Blumenkron, M. (2020, May 3). Die unsinnigen Russlandsanktionen müssen weg. *Der Tagesspiegel*. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.tagesspiegel.de/politik/altkanzler-schroeder-im-interview-die-unsinnigenrussland-sanktionen-muessen-weg/25795514.html.
- Jones, C. (2018). Concepts of sovereignty their evolution and status. *China's challenge to liberal norms*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Kant, I. (1991). Perpetual peace. In H. Reiss (Ed.), *Kant's political writings* (pp. 93–130). Cambridge University Press. (Original work published 1795).
- Kant, I. (1996). *Groundwork of the metaphysics of morals* (M. Gregor, Trans., Ed.). Cambridge University Press. (Original work published 1785).
- Kant, I. (2010). Zum ewigen Frieden: ein philosophischer Entwurf. [Towards perpetual peace: a philosophical blueprint]. Kant-W Bd. 11, 20.712. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://homepage.univie.ac.at/benjamin.opratko/ip2010/kant.pdf. (Original work published 1796).

- Keohane, R. (1986). Reciprocity in international relations. *International Organization, 40*(1), 1–27. Retrieved December 7, 2020, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2706740.
- Keohane, R. O. (2001). Governance in a partially globalized world. *American Political Science Review, 95*(1), 1–13. https://www.cambridge.org/core/article/governance-in-a-partially-globalized-world/5B1A98E59CBB2D85363924D2460D62F4.
- Keohane, R. O. (2005). *After hegemony: Cooperation and discord in the world political economy* (Princeton classic ed.). Princeton University Press.
- Kern, A. (2009). Economic Sanctions. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Keynes, J. M. (1936/2018). *The general theory of employment, interest, and money*. Springer. (Original work published 1936).
- Kim, D. H., & Trumbore, P. F. (2010). Transnational mergers and acquisitions: The impact of FDI on human rights, 1981—2006. *Journal of Peace Research*, *47*(6), 723–734.
- Kim, S., & Martin-Hermosillo, M. (2013). The effectiveness of economic sanctions against a nuclear North Korea. North Korean Review, 9(2), 99–110. Retrieved December 6, 2020, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/43908923.
- Kissinger, H. (2014). World Order. Penguin Press.
- Klein, M., Aaron, C., & Hadjimichael, B. (2001). *Foreign direct investment and poverty reduction* (Policy Research Working Paper, No. 2613). World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-2613.
- Koizumi, T. & Kenneth J. Kopecky. 1980. Foreign direct investment, technology transfer and domestic employment effects. *Journal of International Economics 10*(1, February), 1–20.
- Kopper, C. (2017). VW do Brasil in the Brazilian Military Dictatorship 1964-1985. A Historical Study. Retrieved March 11, 2021. https://www.volkswagenag.com/presence/konzern/documents/history/VW_B_DoBrasi I_e_WEB.pdf.
- Krasner, S. (1976), State power and the structure of international trade. *World Politics 28*(03), 317–347.
- Kriebitz, A. & Max, R. (2020). The Xinjiang Case and Its Implications from a Business Ethics Perspective. *Human Rights Review*, 21, 243-265.
- Kriebitz, A. (2020). North Korea's Knowledge Economy and Foreign Direct Investment. *North Korean Review*, 16(2), 7-25.
- Kriebitz, A., & Lütge, C. (2020). Artificial intelligence and human rights: A business ethical assessment. *Business and Human Rights Journal, 5*(1), 84–104.

- Kucera, D. (2002). Core labor standards and foreign direct investment. *International Labour Review, 141*, 31–70.
- Küng, H. (2014). The global economic crisis requires a global ethic: The manifesto for a global economic ethic. In M. Pirson, U. Steinvorth, C. Largacha-Martinez, & C. Dierksmeier (Eds.), *From Capitalistic to Humanistic Business* (pp. 25–31). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137468208_3.
- Lake, D. A. (1992, March). Powerful pacifists: Democratic states and war. *American Political Science Review*, 86(1), 24–37.
- Lechner, F. J. (2009). Globalization: The making of world society. John Wiley & Sons.
- Lee, G. (2003). The political philosophy of Juche. *Stanford Journal of East Asian Affairs*, *3*(1), 105–112.
- Lee, M. (2017, September 14). Trump wants to end 'horrible' South Korea-U.S. trade deal. Koreans disagree. *The Washington Post*. https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/trump-wants-to-end-horrible-south-korea-ustrade-deal-koreans-disagree/2017/09/13/fb528b3e-9627-11e7-a527-3573bd073e02_story.html.
- Lektzian, D. J., & Sprecher, C. M. (2007). Sanctions, signals, and militarized conflict. *American Journal of Political Science, 51*(2), 415–31. Retrieved December 5, 2020, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/4620074.
- Lenin, V. I. (1948). *Imperialism, the highest stage of capitalism*. [Империализм, как высшая стадия капитализма] Lawrence and Wishart. (Original work published 1917).
- Levy, P. I. (1999). Sanctions on South Africa: What did they do?. *American Economic Review, 89*(2), 415–420.
- Liden, G. (2014). Theories of dictatorships: Sub-types and explanations. *Studies of Transition States and Societies:* 6(1), 50–67.
- Linz, J. J. (2000). Totalitarian and authoritarian regimes. Lynne Rienner.
- Locke, J. (1947). *Two Treatises of Government: With a Supplement, Patriarcha, by Robert Filmer* (No. 2). Simon and Schuster. (Original work published in 1689).
- Loewenstein, G. F., & Prelec, D. (1993). Preferences for sequences of outcomes. *Psychological Review, 100*(1), 91.
- López-Córdova, J., & Meissner, C. (2008). The impact of international trade on democracy: A long-run perspective. *World Politics, 60*(4), 539–575. Retrieved December 6, 2020, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40060211
- Lorenz, A. & Thielke, T. (2007, May 30). China's conquest of Africa. *Der Spiegel*. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.spiegel.de/international/world/the-age-of-the-dragonchina-s-conquest-of-africa-a-484603.html

- MacAskill, W. (2019). The definition of effective altruism. In: Pummer, T. (Ed.). *Effective altruism: Philosophical issues*. Engaging Philosophy.
- Malesky, E. J. (2008). Straight ahead on red: how foreign direct investment empowers subnational leaders. *The Journal of Politics*, *70*(1), 97–119.
- Mantouvalou, V. (2018). The UK Modern Slavery Act 2015: Three years on. *The Modern Law Review, 81*, 1017–1045. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2230.12377.
- Max, R., Kriebitz, A., & Lütge, C. (2020). Economic activities under uncertainty: The difference between speculation, investment and gambling. *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, *10*, 28-37.
- McCarthy, T. (2002). On reconciling cosmopolitan unity and national diversity. In P. De Greiff & C. Cronin (Eds.), *Global justice and transnational politics: Essays on the moral and political challenges of globalization*, 235–274. The MIT Press.
- McDonald, P. (2004). Peace through trade or free trade? *The Journal of Conflict Resolution, 48*(4), 547–572. Retrieved December 10, 2020, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/4149808.
- McMahon, R. (2006). UN sanctions: A mixed record. Council on Foreign Relations.
- Mearsheimer, J. J. (2018). *The great delusion: Liberal dreams and international realities*. Yale University Press.
- Mill, J. S. (1998). *On liberty and other essays*. Oxford University Press. (Original work published in 1859).
- Minter, W., & Schmidt, E. (1988). When sanctions worked: The case of Rhodesia reexamined. *African Affairs*, *87*(347), 207–237. Retrieved November 27, 2020, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/722401.
- Mitchell, N. J., & McCormick, J. M. (1988). Economic and political explanations of human rights violations. *World Politics: A Quarterly Journal of International Relations*. 40(4). 476–498.
- Montesquieu, C. d. S. (1973). De l'esprit des lois [On the spirit of the laws]. Garnier. (Original work published in 1748).
- Morgenthau, H. J. (1982). *In defense of the national interest: A critical examination of American foreign policy*. University Press of America. (Original work published 1951).
- Morgenthau, H.J. (1952), The moral dilemma in foreign policy, *The Yearbook of World Affairs*, 5; 12–36.
- Mousseau, D. Y. (2006). Democracy, human rights and market development in Turkey: Are they related?. *Government and Opposition, 41*(2), 298–326.

- Mousseau, M. (2000). Market prosperity, democratic consolidation, and democratic peace. *Journal of Conflict Resolution, 44*(4), 472–507.
- Movsesian, M. L. (2017). Markets and morals: The limits of Doux commerce. *William and Mary Business Law Review*, 9, 449.
- Müller, J. F. (2018). The ethics of commercial human smuggling. *European Journal of Political Theory*, 20(1), 138-156.
- Mun, J.-I. (2019) Opening remarks by President Moon Jae-in at emergency cabinet meeting. Republic of Korea. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://english1.president.go.kr/BriefingSpeeches/Speeches/630.
- Murgia, M., & Shepherd, C. (2019, June 14). US universities reconsider research links with Chinese AI company. *Financial Times*. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.ft.com/content/2f112da0-8e19-11e9-a1c1-51bf8f989972
- National Security Strategy of the United States of America (December, 18 2017). Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://nssarchive.us/national-security-strategy-2017/
- Naughton, B., & Lardy, N. R. (1996). China's emergence and prospects as a trading nation. Brookings Papers on Economic Activity, 1996(2), 273–344.
- Navari, C. (2016). Hans Morgenthau and the national interest. Ethics & International Affairs, 30(1), 47–54. doi:10.1017/S089267941500060X.
- Nebehay, S. (2017, November 20). North Korean women suffer discrimination, rape, malnutrition - U.N. *Reuters*. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://br.reuters.com/article/uk-northkorea-un-rights-idUKKBN1DK1EP.
- Neuenkirch, M., & Neumeier, F. (2016). The impact of US sanctions on poverty. Journal of Development Economics, 121(C), 110–119.
- New York Times. (2000, March 9). Full text of Clinton's speech on China trade bill. Retrieved March 10, 2021 https://movies2.nytimes.com/library/world/asia/030900clinton-chinatext.html.
- Niezen, R. (2008). A world beyond difference: Cultural identity in the age of globalization. John Wiley & Sons.
- North, D. C. (1991). Institutions. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 5(1), 97–112.
- North, D.C., Wallis, J. J., & Weingast, B. R. (2009). *Violence and social orders: a conceptual framework for interpreting recorded human history*. Cambridge University Press.
- Nye, J. (2004). Soft power: The means to success in world politics. Public Affairs.
- Nye, S. (2019). What is a moral foreign policy? Texas National Security Review, 3(1).
- O'Driscoll, D. (2017). *Impact of economic sanctions on poverty and economic growth* (K4D Helpdesk Report). Institute of Development Studies.

- Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. (2020). US must lift its Cuba embargo to save lives amid COVID-19 crisis, say UN experts [Press release]. United Nations. Retrieved March 21, 2021 https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25848&La ngID=.
- Ogunniyi, M. B., & Igberi, C. O. (2014). The impact of foreign direct investment on poverty reduction in Nigeria. *Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development*, *5*(14), 73–89.
- Oman, N. (2017). *The dignity of commerce: Markets and the moral foundations of contract law*. University of Chicago Press.
- Paik, H. (2002). Assessment of the sunshine policy: A Korean perspective. *Asian Perspective, 26*(3), 13–35. Retrieved November 27, 2020, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/42704372.
- Peksen, D. (2016). Economic sanctions and official ethnic discrimination in target countries, 1950–2003, *Defence and Peace Economics*, 27(4), 480–502. https://doi.org/10.1080/10242694.2014.920219.
- Peksen, D., & Drury, A. C. (2009). Economic sanctions and political repression: Assessing the impact of coercive diplomacy on political freedoms. *Human Rights Review 10*, 393–411. https://doi.org/10.1007.
- Pies, I. (2000). Institutionenökonomik als Ordnungstheorie: Ein Ansatz für wissenschaftliche Politikberatung in der Demokratie [Institutional economics as a theory of order: an approach to scientific policy advice in democracy]. In: Leipold, H. & Pies, I. (Eds.): Ordnungstheorie und Ordnungspolitik – Konzeptionen und Entwicklungsperspektiven (pp. 347–370). Lucius & Lucius.
- Pies, I. (2020). Das Moralparadoxon der Moderne: Ordonomische Überlegungen zur modernen Ethik als Ethik der Moderne [The Moral Paradox of Modernity: Ordonomic Reflections on Modern Ethics as the Ethics of Modernity]. Diskussionspapier, No. 2020-01, Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg, Lehrstuhl für Wirtschaftsethik, Halle (Saale), Retrieved March 12, 2021 http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:gbv:3:2-119633.
- Powell, B. (2014). *A case against child labor prohibitions* (Cato Institute Economic Development Bulletin No. 21). Cato Institute.
- Prestowitz, C. (2013). *Does globalization mean war*? Foreign Policy. https://foreignpolicy.com/2013/12/02/does-globalization-mean-war/.
- Quinn, D. P., & Inclan, C. (1997). The origins of financial openness: A study of current and capital account liberalization. *American Journal of Political Science 41*(3), 771–813.
- Ramasastry, A. (2015). Corporate social responsibility versus business and human rights: Bridging the gap between responsibility and accountability. *Journal of Human Rights 14*(2), 237–59.

- Raponi, S. (2014). What is required to institutionalize Kant's cosmopolitan ideal? *Journal of International Political Theory 10*(3), 302–320.
- Rawls, J. (1993). The law of peoples. Critical Inquiry, 20(1), 36-68.
- Reinisch, A. (2001). Developing human rights and humanitarian law accountability of the security council for the imposition of economic sanctions. *American Journal of International Law*, *95*(4), 851–872. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/2674632.
- Resolution 2397 of the UN Security Council. December 22, 2017. Retrieved March 12, 2021. https://undocs.org/S/RES/2397(2017)
- Resolution 36/103 of the UN General Assembly. December 9, 1981. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.un.org/Docs/asp/ws.asp?m=A/RES/36/103.
- Resolution 60/1 of the UN General Assembly. September 16, 2005. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://undocs.org/A/RES/60/1
- Roberts, S. (1986, October 3). Senate, 78 to 21, overrides Reagan's veto and imposes sanctions on South Africa. *New York Times*. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.nytimes.com/1986/10/03/world/senate-78-to-21-overrides-reagan-s-veto-and-imposes-sanctions-on-south-africa.html.
- Rubin, M. (2020, October 30). Sanctions will stop Turkish aggression. *Ekathimerini*. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.ekathimerini.com/258605/opinion/ekathimerini/comment/sanctions-willstop-turkish-aggression.
- Ruggie, J. G. (1993). Territoriality and beyond: Problematizing modernity in international relations. *International Organization* 47(1),139–174. doi.org/10.1017/S0020818300004732.
- Santoro, M. A. (2000). *Profits and principles: Global capitalism and human rights in china*. Cornell University Press.
- Santoro, M. A. (2009). China 2020: *How Western business can–and should–influence social and political change in the coming decade*. Cornell University Press.
- Santoro, M. A. (2010). Post-Westphalia and its discontents: Business, globalization, and human rights in political and moral perspective. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, *20*(2), 285–97.
- Sartori, G. (1970). Concept misformation in comparative politics. *The American Political Science Review, 64*(4), 1033–1053. doi:10.2307/1958356.
- Saunders, P. J. (2014, August 14). When sanctions lead to war. *New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2014/08/22/opinion/when-sanctions-lead-to-war.html.
- Schmieg, E. (2014). Human rights and sustainability in free trade agreements: Can the Cariforum-EU Economic Partnership Agreement serve as a model? *24. SWP*

Comments. Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik. https://www.swpberlin. org/fileadmin/contents/products/comments/2014C24_scm.pdf.

- Schmieg, E. (2015). Trade and investment agreements for sustainable development? Lessons from the EU's Economic Partnership Agreement with the Caribbean. 6. SWP Research Paper. Berlin: Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik. https:// www.swpberlin.org/fileadmin/contents/products/research papers/2015 RP06 scm.pdf.
- Sen, A. (1999). Democracy as a universal value. Journal of Democracy 10(3), 3-17.
- Shalal, A. (2020, December 23). Exclusive: U.S. preparing new sanctions to impede Russia's Nord Stream 2 pipeline. *Reuters*. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-russia-nord-stream-exclusiveidUSKBN28X2B6.
- Simma, B., & Alston, P. (1992). The sources of human rights law: custom, jus cogens, and general principles. The Australian Year Book of International Law Online 12(1), 82–108.
- Singer, P. (1972, Spring). Famine, affluence, and morality. *Philosophy and Public Affairs, 1*(3), pp. 229–243.
- Singh, A., & Zammit, A. (2000). *The global labour standards controversy: Critical issues for developing countries*. Munich Personal RePEc Archive (53480).
- Skultety, S. (2006). Currency, Trade and Commerce in Plato's Laws. History of Political Thought, 27(2), 189-205.
- Slave Trade Act (1807). [An Act for the Abolition of the Slave Trade] Feb. 10. 1807. Retrieved March 10, 2021 from https://iiif.collectionsbase.org.uk/GB61/GB61_HL_PO_PU_1_1807_47G3s1n60/e5tD 3#?c=0&m=0&s=0&cv=0&xywh=-445%2C-10%2C1622%2C1033
- Smith, A. (2008). An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations. Oxford World's Classics. Oxford University Press. (Work originally published in 1776).
- Smith, S. (1997). Restrictive policy toward multinationals: Argentina and Korea. *Case Studies in Economic Development, 2*, 178–189.
- State Department of the United States. (2019). *United States restricts scheduled air service to Cuban airports* [Press release]. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.state.gov/united-states-restricts-scheduled-air-service-to-cuban-airports/.
- Straeck, K. (2020). Nord Stream 2: Pacta sunt servanda. *Berliner Zeitung*. Retrieved March 11, 2021 https://www.berliner-zeitung.de/wirtschaft-verantwortung/nord-stream-2-pacta-sunt-servanda-nord-stream-2-klaus-staeck-kolumne-russland-wladimir-putin-mecklenburg-vorpommern-manuela-schwesig-li.108612.

- Suchanek, A. (1999). *Normative Umweltökonomik: Zur Herleitung von Prinzipien rationaler Umweltpolitik*. [Normative Environmental Economics: On the Derivation of Principles of Rational Environmental Policy] Mohr Siebeck Verlag.
- Szabo, S. F. (2020, August 6). No change through trade. *Berlin Policy Journal.* Retrieved March 11, 2021 https://berlinpolicyjournal.com/no-change-through-trade/.
- The Africa Report. (2020, November 16). How Western companies undermine African democracy. Retrieved March 11, 2021 from https://www.theafricareport.com/50500/how-western-companies-undermine-african-democracy/.
- The Left (2017). *Wahlprogramm der Partei DIE LINKE zur Bundestagswahl 2017* [Election Program of DIE LINKE Party for the 2017 Bundestag Election]. Retrieved March 10, 2021 https://www.dielinke.de/fileadmin/download/wahlen2017/wahlprogramm2017/die_linke_wahlprogram

m 2017.pdf

- The Left. (2011). *Programm der Partei DIE LINKE* [Program of the party DIE LINKE]. Retrieved March 10, 2021 https://www.dielinke.de/fileadmin/download/grundsatzdokumente/programm_formate/programm_der __partei_die_linke_erfurt2011.pdf
- Tuplin, C. (1979). Thucydides 1.42.2 and the Megarian Decree. *The Classical Quarterly, 29*(2), 301–307. Retrieved December 7, 2020, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/638097.
- U.S. Department of Treasury. (2020). Treasury sanctions cyber actors backed by Iranian intelligence ministry [Press release]. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm1127.
- U.S. Government Publishing Office (2019). Uighur Intervention and Global Humanitarian Unified Response Act of 2019. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BILLS-116s178eah/html/BILLS-116s178eah.htm
- UN Declaration on the Right to Development. December 4, 1986. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.un.org/en/events/righttodevelopment/declaration.shtml
- United Nations. (1999). The Case for a Global Healthcare Partnership. Retrieved March 12, 2021. https://www.un.org/press/en/1999/19991028.gaef2881.doc.html.
- Universal Declaration of Human Rights. December 10, 1948. Retrieved March 20, 2021. https://www.un.org/en/udhrbook/pdf/udhr_booklet_en_web.pdf
- van der Have, N. (2020). The proposed EU human rights sanctions regime. *Security and Human Rights*, 30(1-4), 1-16.
- van Rij, A., & Wilkinson, B. (2016). Security cooperation with Saudi Arabia: Is it worth it for the UK? Retrieved March 11, 2021 https://www.kcl.ac.uk/policy-institute/assets/uk-saudi-arabia-report.pdf.

- Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties. May 23, 1969. Retrieved March 11, 2021 https://treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetailsIII.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg_no=XXIII-1&chapter=23&Temp=mtdsg3&clang=_en
- Villaroman, N. G. (2010). The right to development: Exploring the legal basis of a supernorm. *Florida Journal of Law, 22*, 299–332.
- Washington Post. (2002). Text of President Bush's 2002 State of the Union Address. Retrieved March 12, 2021 https://www.washingtonpost.com/wpsrv/onpolitics/transcripts/sou012902.htm.
- Wendt, A. (1992). Anarchy is what states make of it. International Organization, 4, 391-425.
- Wendt, A. (1998). On constitution and causation in international relations. *Review of International Studies, 24*, 101–117.
- Wendt, A. (1999). Social theory of international politics. Cambridge University Press.
- Westphal, L. (1990). Industrial policy in an export-propelled economy: Lessons from South Korea's experience, *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *4*(3), 41–59.
- Wettstein, F. (2009). *Multinational corporations and global justice: Human rights obligations of a quasi-governmental institution*. Stanford University Press.
- Wettstein, F. (2015). Normativity, ethics, and the UN guiding principles on business and human rights: A critical assessment. *Journal of Human Rights 2*(14), 162–182.
- White, J. (2004). Globalization, divestment and human rights in Burma. Journal of Corporate Citizenship 14, 47–65.
- Xie, W., & Fan, L. (2019, December 4). China's govt agencies condemn US over Xinjiang bill. *Global Times*. https://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1172205.shtml.
- Young, H. M., Seok, C. M., Tai, J. Y., Soo, J. H., Sup, K. G., Kook, K. O., Kyong, K. Y., Chul, P. J., Woong, S. G., Kon, Y. I. (2012). *Basic reading on Korean unification*. Korean Institute of National Unification. Study Series 12-03.

Appendix

The following pages include the confirmations on contributions of the articles published for the dissertation.

Publication I: Artificial Intelligence and Human Rights: A Business Ethical Assessment

Published in Business and Human Rights Journal 5.1 (2020): 84-104 with Christoph Lütge

- I was responsible for the development of the overall structure of the article
- I was responsible for the literature review on business and human rights and the elaboration of the conceptual framework for the article.
- As corresponding author I was responsible for the submission process and the coordination of the revise and resubmit process
- The writing of the article was a joint effort by the team of authors
- The revision was a joint effort by the team of the authors

Alexander Kiesitz

Alexander Kriebitz (Lead author)

Christinge Lige

Christoph Lütge (Co-author)

Publication II: The Xinjiang Case and Its Implications from a Business Ethics Perspective

Published in Human Rights Review 21 (2020): 243-265 with Raphael Max

- I was responsible for the development of the overall structure of the article
- I was responsible for the literature review and the research on the case study,
- As corresponding author I was responsible for the submission process and the coordination of the revise and resubmit process
- The writing of the article was a joint effort by the team of authors
- The revision was a joint effort by the team of the authors

Alexander Kiesitz

Alexander Kriebitz (Lead author)

Raphael Max (Co-author)

Publication III: North Korea's Knowledge Economy and Foreign Direct Investment

Published in North Korean Review 16.2 (2020): 7-25.

• As the sole author, I was responsible for all aspects of the article

Alexander Kiesitz

Alexander Kriebitz (Lead author)

The signatures used in this version have been digitally inserted. The submitted printed versions were originally signed by the

authors.